# FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND UNIVERSITIES: A BRIEF INTERNATIONAL SURVEY, 2005

by

Andrew Gray

foi@generalist.org.uk

All rights reserved.

Copyright October 2005.

# Acknowledgements and background

I would particularly like to thank Rita Marcella for her help and advice throughout the research, and to thank Patricia Gray for demolishing a number of drafts.

In addition, I would like to thank the many individuals who assisted me in clarifying details of the situations in individual countries, especially Xavier Barker at Nauru Centre of the University of the South Pacific.

Any errors or inaccuracies are, of course, my own.

This study was initially produced as a dissertation for an MSc degree course at the Robert Gordon University, under the title "An investigation into international freedom of information legislation and the degree to which it affects universities", in October 2005. It has been lightly redrafted, but not materially updated, since then.

# **Abstract**

Across the world, the applicability of freedom of information legislation to universities varies from country to country, between public and private universities in the same country, and sometimes even between public universities in the same country. As the bulk of the information needs amongst those most closely concerned with a university are the same whether or not this legislation applies, this poses an interesting dichotomy.

This study examines all freedom of information laws known to exist across the world, and determines the ways in which they apply to universities. In around two-thirds of countries possessing such legislation, the public universities are believed to be subject. Only one country is known where all universities are exempt.

In addition, the situation in three nations – Canada, the United Kingdom, and the United States – was examined in some detail, discussing the effect of implementing this legislation on universities as well as the details of the legislation itself.

An overall comparison of these nations with those discussed earlier is given, and a short list of recommendations for further research is included.

An appendix contains a table listing all countries with their dominant freedom of information legislation, and a summary of its applicability, if the legislation is known to exist.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	2
Abstract	3
Table of Contents	4
Introduction	8
Methodology	11
Process	
Definition of "countries"	
Definition of "universities"	
Definition of "freedom of information legislation"	15
Notes on source material	
Analysis of Individual Nations	
Countries where universities are covered	
Albania	
Australia	
Belize	
Bosnia and Herzegovina	
Bulgaria	
Colombia	
Croatia	
Czech Republic	
Denmark	
Ecuador	
Estonia	
Finland	
France	
Georgia	
Hungary	
India	
Ireland	
Italy	
Jamaica	25
Liechtenstein	26
Lithuania	
Mexico	26
Moldova	26
New Zealand	26
Norway	27
Panama	27
Peru	27
Philippines	
Poland	
Portugal	
Romania	
Slovenia	
Spain	
South Africa	
South Korea	
Sweden	
U W CUCII	47

	Thailand	29
	Trinidad and Tobago	. 29
	United Kingdom	
Сс	ountries with universities exempt	
	Israel	
Сс	ountries where the applicability to universities is unclear	. 32
	Angola	32
	Austria	
	Belgium	
	Chile	
	China (People's Republic of China)	
	Greece	
	Iceland	
	Japan	
	Kyrgyzstan	
	Latvia	
	Netherlands	
	Pakistan	
	Slovakia	
	Siovakia	
	Turkey	
	Ukraine	
	Uruguay	
	Uzbekistan	
	Venezuela	
C	ountries where applicability varies	
	Canada	
	Germany	
	Serbia and Montenegro	
	United States of America	
	ountries with pending legislation	
	Argentina	
	Armenia	
	Azerbaijan	
	Botswana	
	Fiji	
	Ghana	40
	Indonesia	40
	Jordan	41
	Kenya	41
	Lesotho	41
	Maldives	41
	Monaco	41
	Mozambique	42
	Nauru	42
	Nigeria	
	Sri Lanka	
	Uganda	
	ountries with strongly limited legislation	
	Malta	
	Tajikistan	
	,	

Yemen	44
Zimbabwe	44
Case Study - United Kingdom	46
Case Study - Canada	49
Case Study - United States	52
Comparison of national situations	
Coverage of universities	
Public-Private Issues	
Regional universities	59
National versus local effects	60
Form of the legislation	60
Effects of the legislation	61
Absence of legislation	63
Conclusions	65
Avenues for future research	67
Appendix I – Table of all countries with legislation	68
Appendix II – Individual United States jurisdictions	77
Alabama	77
Alaska	77
Arizona	77
Arkansas	77
California	77
Colorado	78
Connecticut	78
Delaware	78
Florida	78
Georgia	78
Hawaii	79
Idaho	79
Illinois	79
Indiana	
Iowa	
Kansas	
Kentucky	79
Louisiana	80
Maine	80
Maryland	
Massachusetts	80
Michigan	
Minnesota	80
Mississippi	
Missouri	
Montana	
Nebraska	
Nevada	82
New Hampshire	
New Jersey	
New Mexico	
New York	
North Carolina	
North Dakota	83

Ohio	83
Oklahoma	84
Oregon	84
Pennsylvania	
Rhode Island	84
South Carolina	84
South Dakota	84
Tennessee	85
Texas	85
Utah	85
Vermont	86
Virginia	86
Washington	86
West Virginia	87
Wisconsin	87
Wyoming	87
Federal Universities	87
Tribal Jurisdictions	87
District of Columbia	88
Territories and possessions	88
References	89

## Introduction

In recent years, freedom of information laws have gone from being a rare oddity on the international stage to being an accepted part of modern democratic life\*. A study in May 2004 found that over fifty nations had enacted such legislation – over half of which had been done in the last ten years – and another thirty or so were in the process of creating legislation<sup>1</sup>.

In the United Kingdom, the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 have only recently come into force. As such, institutions covered under the Acts have recently rushed to ensure they were fully compliant in time. Whilst early reports have suggested that fears of a deluge of questions from the public and media overwhelming these institutions were unfounded, the Acts are being used, and it can be expected that the usage rates will slowly increase over time as people become more familiar with the legislation and the rights it gives them.

Whilst the Acts were predominantly intended to apply to the government, and it is here that most of the public attention has focused, they were somewhat broader in scope. They cover a large number of quasi-governmental authorities, as well non-governmental public bodies such as the military, the police, and the Health Service. This is, broadly speaking, representative of the situation in most countries with similar legislation.

An interesting point is that the Acts apply to universities and other higher education institutions<sup>†</sup>, despite the fact that many UK universities are independent of central government. This is achieved by working through the funding system; the Acts treat any institution paid for by a higher education funding council as a public body. As with all institutions, universities have spent time and resources ensuring they comply with the legislation. Many have hired professional records managers for the first time, had to write data-handling policies, and the like; a reasonably significant expenditure for most institutions. A Canadian study estimated that the long-term effect of the law on one university was to take up the work of two full-time staff, with each request costing around \$500 – around £300, correcting for inflation and exchange rates<sup>2</sup>.

\_

<sup>\*</sup> In order to avoid confusion between descriptive terms such as "freedom of information" or "public records laws" and any individual legislation with similar titles, the general descriptive term will always be in lowercase through this document, and the name of any individual legislation capitalised.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> In the UK, the University of Buckingham is a notable exception; see later discussion. For the purposes of this introduction, "universities" means HE institutions generally.

The dynamics of freedom of information at universities are interesting. For one, there are "local" aspects – the university is a large institution, exerting a significant effect on the community around it in much the same way that any large employer (public or private) would. There are national aspects – the university as a public institution, either involved in or providing material for national debate on matters such as education policy. There are personal aspects – universities are, in many cases, the first stage in the careers of famous or infamous individuals, about whom the media and the public is always hungry to know more. There is the matter of research information – both the results of the research, and information about it, especially in contentious fields like animal testing. And finally, the university contains its own community, several thousand students, researchers, and others who are not public employees, but have a strong interest in access to information about the workings of the institution, as it has a massive impact on their life\*. In addition, universities – especially the major research universities – often spin off commercial companies, either to carry out specific functions such as housing or catering, or to generate income from patents and research facilities. To a degree, these dynamics are independent of what nation the institution is in, or what legislative framework it exists under.

In many ways, this makes the universities a special case among institutions covered by the legislation. As such, it was interesting to discover, doing preliminary research, that the level to which universities were covered by freedom of information legislation varied dramatically between – and sometimes even within – countries. Some nations possessed complex and interesting legal frameworks, under which it was unclear if universities were covered or not; in others, detailed studies had been published on the effects on universities. However, whilst there were comparative studies of the existence and implementation of access laws across the world, no study yet produced dealt generally with the matter of universities. The known wide variance in coverage in a limited sample of countries suggested that there would be interesting results from studying as many as possible.

This study aims to look at the extent to which universities are covered globally, within the framework of individual countries' legislation, and to briefly discuss some of the general effects. In order to do this, the legislation of every country known to possess a

-

<sup>\*</sup> The fact that, in many cases, these bodies are represented by one or more organised unions lends this even more force.

freedom of information law would need to be checked. However, the most recent of the comprehensive international studies was a year old, and did not completely agree with other studies in the field. As such, it seemed worthwhile to briefly study every country, known to have such laws or not, checking for any existing legislation. Whilst a large number of countries would simply be noted as "no information available", this gave the benefit of creating an up-to-date list of laws internationally, a useful piece of research in its own right. An appendix lists every country in the world, with either a brief note that no legislation could be found, a note that there is *known* to be no legislation in existence as of a certain date, or the name and date of the principal legislation; a second appendix goes into detail on the legislation in the individual jurisdictions of the United States.

# Methodology

This study aimed to look at each individual country that possessed some form of freedom of information legislation, determining where universities fell within the framework of their national legislation. The aim was, if possible, to categorise every nation as having legislation which clearly did or did not encompass universities. In addition, the effects arising from this legislation would be discussed, both in the contexts where the effects of the legislation were known, and in the contexts where the legislation appeared to create issues of its own. Research of this form does not appear to have been done before, save on a very restricted level – a study discussing the legislative framework in Canada in 1998<sup>3</sup>, or individual anecdotes of cases – which was felt to make this research clearly original.

A literature search was undertaken, but as no directly relevant studies beyond the Canadian paper already discussed were found, no literature review has been included as a separate part of the methodology. A number of general studies on freedom of information internationally were found, the most significant of which are discussed later. These, however, whilst useful sources for general information about the legislation, were not directly relevant to the topic being studied.

However, it is worth, at this point, noting a short paper produced by the Campaign for Freedom of Information in 1998, which discussed some examples of cases where freedom of information legislation had been used regarding universities in other countries. Among others, this included requiring the release of information regarding racially biased admissions tests, the results of unpublished internal audits, and private staff appraisal reports<sup>4</sup>. The report did not go into great detail, but it did serve as an indicative example of the effects of implementation, and the importance of understanding the effects in the field.

As the most recent comprehensive international study was a year old<sup>1</sup>, and bearing in mind the relatively fast-moving pace of this field of research, a large amount of identification of previously unknown individual pieces of legislation would have to be done as part of the research process. As such, a list of all countries together with details of their legislation would have to be provided, which in effect serves as a rather sparse update to the existing general studies. Whilst not itself particularly original research, this information could prove useful as an update to existing work in the field.

## **Process**

The initial method of examination was to work through a list of all the world's countries, checking each one to determine if it possessed any freedom of information legislation. In many cases the specific legislation was identifiable from previous studies in the field, but any country not covered in any of those studies – or which was known to not have a law in effect at the time of those studies – was checked again, to allow for situations where a relevant law had been passed in recent years or where an obscure piece of legislation had been overlooked by previous studies.

For nations where relevant legislation existed, either active or planned, the applicability of the legislation to universities was determined. It should be noted that the example of the UK Acts – where the universities were included by a somewhat circuitous and confusing definition – originally suggested that, for many countries, it would not be possible to conclude anything definite about the scope of the legislation without a detailed understanding of the local legislative framework. In many cases, the result was simply an educated guess based on similar legislation, the terminology of the law, or the structure of the academic system of that country.

As no wide-ranging research in the field had previously been carried out with this specific an intent, it was not possible to use previous studies to predict a "success rate" for this approach. However, reasonably detailed results were gathered for a range of countries sufficiently large to allow some conclusions to be drawn.

Due to time and length constraints, this analysis had to be cursory, limited to a short summary of the relevant portions of the law, a rationale for the interpretation if one was required, and a citation of any appropriate studies on freedom of information as applied to the local universities along with any interesting details about implementation effects. Anything dealing with the legislation generally that was felt to be critical – a study showing that it was only implemented on paper, for example – was included, but otherwise a conscious decision was taken to restrict the study to covering the degree to which the legislation applied to universities, not about the legislation in a general sense. These summaries were then grouped into sets – for example, laws covering universities, or laws where the scope is unclear – allowing patterns to be visible.

In order to offset the problems of the constraints mentioned above, a small number of countries were selected for a discussion of the laws in some detail, together with a

discussion on their implementation. The three countries chosen were Canada (p.49), the United States (p.52) and the United Kingdom (p.46); this provided both a wide scope for variance in the relevant laws\*, and a broadly similar cultural and political background to provide a relatively stable baseline. As the United States involved the analysis of almost sixty separate jurisdictions, an appendix was created to include individual analyses for each of these (p.77).

Another appendix (p.68) lists all countries covered by the study, noting whether or not they possess any appropriate legislation; if they do, then it summarises the result of the analysis, giving the name and date of the legislation, together with whether or not it encompasses universities. This allows a secondary use of the work as a summary listing of all known international freedom of information laws, which whilst not an original piece of research is useful in that no reasonably comprehensive overview has been published since mid-2004.

In order to reduce potential ambiguities in the study, and to ensure the research remained focused, it proved necessary to establish some preliminary definitions.

## **Definition of "countries"**

The world currently contains 193 *de jure* sovereign states. For political reasons the exact composition of any such list is debated – the most contentious being the debate over the Republic of China ("Taiwan") versus the People's Republic of China ('mainland China'). However, all 193 of these nations are recognised by a wide range of other nations as both independent and sovereign.

In addition, there are many more states that are somewhat harder to define. Six, such as the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus, are *de facto* independent, but not recognised as sovereign by the international community at large. Others, such as Palestine, are recognised as sovereign by many nations, but are not *de facto* independent. There are then a large number of dependent territories and other possessions, as well as non-territorial areas governed by international treaty, largely autonomous regions inside sovereign states, areas under the control of armed secessionist rebels, "independent sovereign

\_

<sup>\*</sup> Canada has both federal and regional freedom of information legislation, as does the US; the UK has legislation both nationally and specific to Scotland. As such, these three countries effectively represent over seventy separate jurisdictions!

entities" which claim no territory, governments in exile claiming sovereign status, and more besides.

For reasons of simplicity, we will only consider the 193 "conventional" states. However, many nations have multiple levels of government – the US, for example, has both state and national freedom of information legislation – and some delegate limited powers to subnational entities, such as in the situation in the UK with a national act and one limited to Scotland. It may, therefore, also be necessary to consider additional legislation as well as the laws of these 193. In some cases, the *only* relevant access law is a regional one.

For reference, the terms country and nation will be used interchangeably as appropriate, rather than state, as many nations use "state" to mean a subnational entity. To discuss subnational entities in general, "region" has been used.

## Definition of "universities"

A decision was made to examine only universities, not including the myriad other forms of higher education – university colleges, further education institutions, vocational training colleges, and the like. This decision was made in order to focus the research; universities are generally representative of the overall higher education system of a country, and restricting the scope to the top level reduced the large amount of work involved in trying to understand the educational system of every country examined.

All bar four countries in the world have universities. Given the expense of maintaining a university, compared to the small size or great poverty of many nations, this may seem somewhat surprising. Of these four, three have some form of higher education institution; Palau, the Federated States of Micronesia, and São Tomé and Príncipe have further education college level institutions, which do not grant degrees. Cape Verde, the fourth, is currently planning to build its first university – it has for years sent students to Brazil, another Lusophone country, for tertiary education.

Of the remaining 189 countries, all have at least one local university of some form, except twenty. These share two universities between them; the University of the South Pacific (of which nine countries are members) and the University of the West Indies (of which eleven countries are members). Both universities also have a number of territorial possessions in the region as members – for example, the British Virgin Islands and Montserrat are both members of the University of the West Indies.

These are examples of regional universities. In these, the university is not based in one country with operations in several others – the normal case for "international universities" – but is a fully-fledged international organisation, operating in a wide range of countries. There are currently three such organisations in the world – the third, the University of Central Asia, is still being created. It is immediately clear that these pose an interesting issue in the context of national legislation – to what degree are they subject to legislation existing in only a fraction of their constituent countries? In some cases, such as Fiji, the member nations have both "conventional" local universities as well as a campus of the regional institution, complicating the matter further.

Unless explicitly noted otherwise in this study, "universities" refers *only* to the publicly operated state universities, not to private bodies – private institutions are almost always exempt from such legislation, and to note this each time would be pointlessly repetitive.

# Definition of "freedom of information legislation"

It may seem extraneous to have to define this, but the term "freedom of information" is used vaguely in many contexts. Freedom of information legislation, often termed as "open records", "right of access", "access to information", or similar, is legislation passed with the primary aim of allowing the general public access to information held by public bodies.

This may vary in detail – in some countries, the right of access only extends to citizens or journalists; in others, it may encompass certain private bodies or only encompass a small number of public bodies. It may have a wider scope – in many nations, the freedom of information laws are part of a wider piece of information legislation covering such things as personal privacy\* or media regulation. Where relevant, these will be noted, but the coverage of national privacy-protection or data-handling laws are not the intended subjects of this study.

However, the term is also used in a more vague sense, akin to freedom of expression – the freedom to receive and disseminate information is often referred to as "freedom of information", especially in contexts concerned with studying the freedom of the press.

\_

<sup>\*</sup> The equivalent of the Data Protection Act 1998 in the United Kingdom.

Legislation merely guaranteeing journalistic freedoms will not be considered under this definition.

On a related matter, "freedom of information legislation" has been construed to mean specifically *legislation*, a law actually passed or decreed by a governing body. Many constitutions, especially recent ones, contain a section promising freedom of information; these are generally very vaguely worded, however, and without implementing legislation being passed they are effectively meaningless beyond demonstrating an intention in principle. Unless there is an extreme case – a particularly well-used or detailed constitutional provision – a guarantee of freedom of information in this form will not be interpreted as being active legislation.

## Notes on source material

It will be noted that by far the bulk of source material used here is from electronic sources; this is felt to be a strength rather than a deficit. Most of the material cited is from primary sources (actual legislation or advisory documents), which would both be difficult to obtain in print and run a grave risk of being outdated. As will be seen in the study on Canada, this legislation may well be amended significantly since being passed, and outside of a specialised law library it is hard to rely on physical documents for foreign legislation being fully updated. However, using online governmental sources gives a much greater likelihood of the law being fully updated. A small number of resources were referenced in old papers, and no longer exist online, due to the restructuring of Internet sites. Where possible, these have been used and cited through a source such as the Internet Archive. As a number of other resources became inaccessible during the course of this research – governmental Internet sites are notoriously bad for "rearranging" material at short notice – all electronic sources cited were confirmed to be valid shortly before completion of this document.

Due to the international scope of the research, English translations of most of the primary documentation were used. In many cases, these were provided by the relevant government, and in others by appropriate groups such as regional press-freedom campaigns. In most cases these translations were usable, though in some cases the combination of complex legal terminology in the original and a quick translation rendered them very difficult to interpret. The nature of translating legislative material,

however, is such that specific nuances may be lost, or terms with a precise local meaning be translated into something more vague and indeterminate. As such, it is possible that a number of the "position unclear" cases would be less ambiguous if read, in the original, by a native speaker.

In some cases where no translations were available, some original translation was carried out. The scope of this was limited, but served to gain a rough idea of the legislation being discussed. Non-English sources have been noted where used, and any interpretations here drawn from them should be confirmed as accurate before basing any further research on them. The names of individual pieces of legislation have been given in translation where possible to reduce confusion; it is, though, unclear how many of these are literal translations and how many simply use analogous English terminology – as such, other sources may potentially disagree on the names of individual acts or laws. Interestingly, the same applies in parts of the United States and some other English-speaking countries, where modifications to the legal code are rarely given an official name, and as such the popular name of the act may vary between contexts.

A number of existing studies were used in the process of checking individual nations, and the most significant of these were:

- Open Sesame: Looking for the Right to Information in the Commonwealth, from the Commonwealth Human Rights Initiative<sup>5</sup>. This 2003 study discusses freedom of information laws across the Commonwealth, and includes a table of whether or not access laws are known to exist in the fifty-three member countries of the Commonwealth, together with a brief mention of relevant constitutional provisions.
- Access to Information in Latin American and the Caribbean, Kati Suominen<sup>6</sup>. This study, written in 2002, contains a brief overview of developments relating to freedom of information laws in the region, and then individual studies of the thirty-five component jurisdictions and the laws then in force there. It should be noted that, however, many of these jurisdictions are not independent nations, but rather overseas territories such as Puerto Rico.
- Freedom of Information and Access to Government Record Laws Around the World, David Banisar for freedominfo.org<sup>1</sup>. This is a 2003 study, updated in May 2004, which serves as "an ongoing survey of the state of freedom of information in countries which have adopted comprehensive national laws on access". It covers fifty-

seven countries, does not deal with nations where only regional laws exist, and makes only passing reference to a list of thirty-four nations with pending legislation. Unlike the other two, it could not be used to rule out nations as possessing no law, as most countries were simply not mentioned.

A number of additional local studies, covering a smaller number of countries, were used; the three mentioned above were the most generally useful. It is notable that the most current is a good year old, and as such it is not desperately reliable for pending legislation. However, all were useful for identifying local legislation, especially the latter as it, where possible, cited English translations of the text.

# **Analysis of Individual Nations**

In the following section, all nations known to possess some form of freedom of information legislation, whether active or still pending, are briefly summarised. As discussed earlier, various constraints prevent the discussion of most legislation in depth.

However, generally, freedom of information legislation is of a fairly simple form:

- A general right of access is granted
- The bodies to which this applies are defined
- General exceptions almost always including personal privacy and national security clauses – are defined.
- Specific exemptions are defined.
- Any overriding duties to disclose are made clear for example, to clarify that
  privacy requirements cannot prevent the subpoening of material.

It would prove both tedious and redundant to "examine" this in the context of every piece of legislation discussed. Unless discussed otherwise, it is assumed that the public bodies have a duty to disclose information, and that exceptions exist such that material can be withheld from disclosure if it affects personal privacy, if disclosing it would conflict with other legal requirements, and similar legal constraints. If more unusual restrictions exist, these are noted.

## Countries where universities are covered

The following nations fall into two broadly similar groups. On the one hand are nations where it can be explicitly determined that universities are liable under the legislation, such as Bulgaria; on the other hand are nations where it can reasonably be assumed that the legislation extends to them, such as South Korea. Where there is an explicit basis for assuming the latter it is given, but in many cases it simply comes down to an informed judgement based on the wording of the legislation.

## **Albania**

In Albania, the constitution of 1998 guarantees the right of access to information, and that "Everyone has the right, in compliance with law, to get information about the activity of state organs". The legislation supporting this is Law 8503, On the right to information over the official documents, which requires public authorities to grant any request for an official document. "Public authorities" are defined very loosely, as "[an] organ of the public administration, public institution, organizational unit, person as well as any other subject which based on the law exercises public functions and/or services". As the bulk of Albanian universities are state-owned, they are clearly subject to this legislation; they are public institutions providing public services. However, the law is generally unused; it is not well known, and few requests are made<sup>1</sup>.

## **Australia**

In Australia, the Freedom of Information Act 1982 applies to "Ministers, departments and public authorities" of the Government of the Commonwealth, the Australian federal government. All bar one of the Australian universities are, however, established at the State or Territory level – the exception being the Australian National University, in Canberra, which is part of the Australian Capital Territory. This institution is therefore liable under the Act, being an agency "established for a public purpose by, or in accordance with the provisions of, an enactment". The others would only be liable under the relevant State or Territory legislation. There are six states and two territories in Australia; all of these have some form of Freedom of Information law, and in all cases save the Australian Capital Territory the law covers the public universities. (In the case of the Australian Capital Territory, there are no universities established under this jurisdiction, so the question of coverage is moot.)

In Western Australia, the Freedom of Information Act 1992 applies to universities, as a "public body or office" The Act is in use; the Office of the Information Commissioner records decisions made for appeals to all four public universities of the state. In New South Wales, the Freedom of Information Act 1989 applies to universities, as bodies "established or continued for a public purpose by or under the provisions of a legislative instrument", though they are explicitly exempted from compliance regarding "functions relating to dealing with information with respect to the ranking or assessment of students who have completed the Higher School Certificate for entrance into tertiary institutions" 12.

In Victoria, the Freedom of Information Act 1982 covers universities as prescribed authorities<sup>13</sup>, and by regulations extends this coverage to colleges of technical and further education<sup>14</sup>. Victoria only contains one private university, Melbourne University (Private), which is closing and merging into the public University of Melbourne as of the time of writing<sup>15</sup>. In South Australia, the Freedom of Information Act 1991 extends to the universities<sup>16</sup>; there are no private universities in the state.

In Queensland, the Freedom of Information Act 1992 extended to public authorities, defined as incorporated or unincorporated bodies "established for a public purpose by an enactment". This unambiguously includes the public universities established by law. However, in a ruling by the Information Commissioner of Queensland in 1997, it was determined that Bond University, a private university, was exempt from the law. This arose because it was founded in 1987, and shortly thereafter given university status by the Bond University Act 1987. It therefore was not established under this enactment, but merely recognised; the State allowed the conferral of the title of University on an existing private concern<sup>18</sup>.

In Tasmania, the Freedom of Information Act 1991 extends to universities, again, as "prescribed authorities"<sup>19</sup>. Tasmania contains only one university, the public University of Tasmania. In the Northern Territory, the Information Act extends to Charles Darwin University, the only university in the territory. The Territory publishes a list of all public sector organisations that are subject to the Act<sup>20</sup>. The Australian Capital Territory contains a university, as discussed above, but has no jurisdiction over it.

## **Belize**

In Belize, the Freedom of Information Act gives every person access to "document[s] of a Ministry or prescribed authority", the latter defined as a public statutory body or a body, established for a public purpose, which has been prescribed by Ministerial order<sup>21</sup>. The University of Belize Act makes it clear that it is a body established by statute, and thus subject<sup>22</sup>. It is unclear if this extends to other bodies; Galen University simply describes itself as "chartered by the government of Belize", and whilst Belize is a contributing nation to the University of the West Indies it is not a body of that nation. No list of Ministerial prescriptions seems to have been made public. A 2000 study found that "the Commission is aware that not much use has been made of the Act"<sup>24</sup>.

# **Bosnia and Herzegovina**

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, the two constituent federal entities have passed freedom of information laws that are broadly identical. Both the Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Republika Srpska<sup>25</sup> and the Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina<sup>26</sup> regulate information held by "public authorities". These are defined according to a short list of classes, but no list of what constitutes these authorities is published. However, the legislation refers to "a body that is either owned or controlled by a public authority", which would seem to cover state-owned universities. All existing universities are currently state-owned<sup>27</sup>.

# Bulgaria

In Bulgaria, the Access to Public Information Act covers access to information produced by "state bodies or the local self-governance bodies of the Republic of Bulgaria"<sup>28</sup>. It also extends this to other entities with regard to activities they carry out with state funding, but no list is provided. This suggests that the state-funded universities are subject to the act, and this is confirmed by a list produced by the Local Government Reform Foundation, which notes that the Higher Education establishments are bodies liable under the Act<sup>29</sup>.

## Colombia

In Colombia, there is a constitutional right to access of information. "Every person has a right to access to public documents except in cases established by law". There is supporting legislation, the Ley 57 de 1985 Por la cual se ordena la publicidad de los actos y

documentos oficiales, which states that all persons have the right to consult documents "que reposen en las oficinas públicas" – which reside in public offices<sup>30</sup>. This is defined quite broadly within the law, in a large set of criteria that almost certainly encompass the state-owned universities.

## Croatia

In Croatia, the Act on the Right of Access to Information regulates information controlled by "public authorities". These are defined as "state bodies, bodies of units of local and regional self-government, legal persons vested with public powers and other persons to whom public powers have been delegated"<sup>31</sup>. The state universities in Croatia are managed and funded by the Ministry of Science Education and Sports, which notes that they are established by law<sup>32</sup>. Whilst no explicit statement to this effect is made, it can be assumed that the Act covers these universities.

# Czech Republic

In the Czech Republic, the Law on Free Access to Information states that obliged entities have a duty to disclose information on request. These entities are "state agencies, territorial self-administration authorities and public institutions managing public funds"<sup>33</sup>. The Czech Republic contains both public and private higher education institutions, though it seems that currently no private institutions are accredited as full universities<sup>34</sup>. It would be assumed that universities, as public institutions, are subject to this act; a booklet produced by The Open Society, a local political organisation, confirms this<sup>35</sup>.

## **Denmark**

In Denmark, the Access to Public Information Files Act applies to "all activity exercised by the public administration"<sup>36</sup>. As all eleven Danish universities are publicly funded and operated by the state, they are subject to the Act<sup>37</sup>. The use of the act does not seem to be contentious in this regard, as indicated by the fact that no challenges involving decisions by universities were ruled on by the Ombudsman in 2001-3<sup>38</sup>.

## **Ecuador**

In Ecuador, the Transparency and Access to Information Law extends to "all public institutions and other organizations that receive government monies"<sup>39</sup>. It is likely that this would include the public universities.

## **Estonia**

In Estonia, the Public Information Act extends to all "holders of information", though this is clarified as being all government bodies, plus "legal persons in public law"<sup>40</sup>. This would likely extend to public universities. All six universities in Estonia are public<sup>41</sup>.

## **Finland**

In Finland, the Act on the Openness of Government Activities extends to a wide range of "authorities"<sup>42</sup>. All Finnish universities are owned by the state<sup>43</sup>, and it can reasonably be assumed they fall under the definition of state agencies or enterprises.

## **France**

In France, the Law on Access to Administrative Documents deals with documents produced by "the State, territorial authorities, public institutions or from public or private-law organisations managing a public service" It would seem likely that this would extend to the public universities. Examining the reports of CADA, (the *Commission d'Accès aux Documents Administratifs*), a number of cases where they have given an opinion relating to a university are found, confirming this assumption These rulings tend to refer to the *président* or *secrétaire général adjoint* of the university, both senior administrators; it is unclear if this means the university is liable via its governing body, or simply if these are the bodies which handle correspondence with external organisations such as CADA.

# Georgia

In Georgia, the Law on Freedom of Information covers "public agencies". These agencies are not clearly defined, but it appears likely that they include public universities.

## Hungary

In Hungary, the Act on the Protection of Personal Data and Public Access to Data of Public Interest extends a right of access to all data of public interest, defined as any information processed by a body performing a governmental function<sup>47</sup>. It is not clear if this extends to the eighteen public universities (Hungary contains only one private university<sup>48</sup>). However, examination of the annual reports of the Data Protection Commissioner find references to personal-data rulings regarding universities in 1998<sup>49</sup> and 2000<sup>50</sup>. In the 2000 case, the personal-information query, on examination, turns out

to refer to refusing to disclose information citing personal privacy; it can be concluded that the public universities are subject to the law.

## India

In India, the Right to Information Act replaced the never-implemented Freedom of Information Act; it extends to a widely defined set of "public authorities", of both the national and state governments<sup>51</sup>. It is likely that this would extend to the public universities, which are operated by both the state and national governments<sup>52</sup>. A number of state governments have individual pieces of legislation, but these are effectively rendered moot by the new law.

## Ireland

In Ireland, the Freedom of Information Act, 1997, was written to apply to public bodies. "Public bodies" was defined according to the First Schedule of the Act, which did not include universities directly<sup>53</sup>. However, provision was made for the Minister of Finance to expand the classes of bodies covered by the legislation, and accordingly it was expanded in subsequent years to include the Universities<sup>54</sup>. The relevant statutory instrument, covering about thirty higher education institutions, came into force in October 2001<sup>55</sup>.

# Italy

In Italy, Law No. 251, 7 August 1990 applies to "administrative bodies of the state", including otherwise autonomous public bodies<sup>56</sup>. The Decree of the President of the Republic No. 352, 27 June 1992 makes reference to it being applicable to "the providers of public services"<sup>57</sup>. It is probable that this covers universities, but this cannot be determined for certain. However, it is required that applicants must have some form of personal interest which the information is necessary to safeguard, limiting the application of the law in many circumstances. Courts have ruled that personal interest can extend to safeguarding the interests of people represented by the applicant.

## **Jamaica**

In Jamaica, the Access to Information Act 2002 applies to public authorities, which are defined in a set of listed categories, with the relevant Minister given the power to add "any other body or organization which provides services of a public nature which are

essential to the welfare of the Jamaican society"<sup>58</sup>. No list of the affected bodies appears to be have been published, but the Jamaica Archives and Records Department notes that "publicly-funded educational institutions" are covered under the Act<sup>59</sup>. This includes a number of universities and community colleges, including – it seems – the University of the West Indies<sup>60</sup>.

## Liechtenstein

In Liechtenstein, the Information Act extends to "state and municipal organs". It is not clear if this extends to the public university institutes, but it seems likely that it does.

## Lithuania

In Lithuania, the Law on Provision of Information to the Public gives the ability to obtain documents from "State and local authority institutions and agencies and other budgetary institutions"<sup>61</sup>. It is not made explicit whether this extends to the public universities, but it seems likely that it does.

## **Mexico**

In Mexico, the Federal Transparency and Access to Public Government Information Law encompasses government bodies and "autonomous constitutional bodies"<sup>62</sup>. An advisory document clarifies that this encompasses the universities<sup>63</sup>.

## Moldova

In Moldova, the Law on Access to Information includes those "organizations founded by the state represented by public authorities that are financed by the state budget"<sup>64</sup>. It is likely that this would encompass the public universities; there is an exemption for "information that represents the final or preliminary results of scientific and technical research" where disclosing this would "deprive the researchers of their priority right of publication", an exception of some importance to universities.

## **New Zealand**

In New Zealand, the Official Information Act 1982 extends to the public universities. The University of Auckland provides a useful description of the Act as it applies to them, noting the classes of information they hold which are defined as "official information"<sup>65</sup>.

## **Norway**

In Norway, the Freedom of Information Act applies to "administrative agencies", though the law does not make it clear what bodies are classed as such<sup>66</sup>. It is unclear if this extends to the public universities, but it seems probable.

## **Panama**

In Panama, the Law on Transparency in Government Bodies extends to "toda agencia of dependencia del Estado" — every agency and dependency of the State — which is further defined as a lengthy list including "decentralized, independent and semi-independent organizations" and "organisations that receive funds, capital or government properties". It is likely that this definition would extend to the universities. A decree of 2003 limited access to "interested persons", a term not fully defined; it is, as yet, unclear what effect this will have on the implementation of the law<sup>1</sup>.

## Peru

In Peru, the Law of Transparency and Access to Public Information extends to bodies of the *Administración Pública* (public administration)<sup>67</sup>. Whilst this does not appear to be defined in the legislation, another document refers to it encompassing "any government body or private entity that offers public services or executes administrative functions"<sup>1</sup>, which would seem to encompass the public universities.

# **Philippines**

Whilst the Philippines has no formal freedom of information legislation, it has very strong constitutional provisions "[making] it one of the most open countries in the region"; the Supreme Court has ruled that no implementing legislation is needed, though various bills to this end have been proposed<sup>1</sup>. As such, it is hard to define exactly the scope of freedom of information, but the broad definitions used in discussing the law suggest that universities are more likely than not to be considered liable<sup>68</sup>.

## **Poland**

In Poland, the Law on Access to Public Information extends to "public authorities and other entities performing public tasks"<sup>69</sup>. It is not made clear if this encompasses universities, but it is likely that it does.

## **Portugal**

In Portugal, the Law of Access to Administrative Documents applies to a wide range of public bodies, including "organs of either public institutes or public associations"<sup>70</sup>. It is likely that this extends to the public universities.

## Romania

In Romania, the Law Regarding Free Access to Information of Public Interest extends to "any public authority or institution, as well as any state company ... which uses public financial resources"<sup>71</sup>. It is not made clear if this extends to the public universities, but it is likely that it does.

## **Slovenia**

In Slovenia, the Act on Access to Information of Public Character applies to a wide range of public bodies<sup>72</sup>. A catalogue of these is published by the government each year, but a copy of this has not been found. The Government of Slovenia, however, refers to universities as "state [or] public institutions"<sup>73</sup>, and it can be considered likely that the legislation extends to them.

# **Spain**

In Spain, the Ley 30/1992, de 26 de noviembre, de Régimen Jurídico de las Administraciones Públicas y del Procedimiento Administrativo Común (Law 30 of 1992, 26<sup>th</sup> November, on the legal regime of the public administrativo and the common administrative procedure) affects various public administrative bodies<sup>74</sup>. As no English translation was available, it was not easy to ascertain how these were defined, but reference was found to a court ruling upholding a point of the Law as applicable, in a case involving the Universidad de La Laguna. From this, it can be inferred that the Law extends to the public universities.

## South Africa

In South Africa, the Promotion of Access to Information Act gives the right of access to information from all "public bodies", and in addition the right to gain information from private (or otherwise exempt) bodies or individuals "that is required for the protection or exercise of any rights"<sup>75</sup>. The South African Human Rights Commission, tasked with overseeing the implementation of the Act, provides a list of contact details for public bodies, which does contain the universities<sup>76</sup>. The second class of bodies covered would

extend further, to private universities, but only in cases where there is a legal need for the information, limiting its applicability. Confusingly, many private institutions tutor local distance learning students at public universities<sup>77</sup>, suggesting they could be considered partially public as "[institutions] performing a public function".

## **South Korea**

In South Korea, the Act on Disclosure of Information by Public Agencies extends to a variety of public agencies<sup>78</sup>. Through the Framework Act on the Management of Government Invested Institutions, this extends to all agencies where the government has invested 50% or more of the capital<sup>79</sup>. This is likely to extend to the public universities.

## **Sweden**

In Sweden, the Freedom of the Press Act extends to all "public authorities" It is not clear if this includes the state universities, as an advisory document notes that "companies, associations and foundations are not public authorities even if the state or a municipality wholly owns or controls them" However, a Swedish university archivist notes that "almost all Swedish universities are public authorities" in the context of the legislation 82, and confirms that this extends to all public universities. The three private universities are not covered 133. Interestingly, the legislation applies to working material as well as finished material – unpublished research, in the cited example, is still accessible under the legislation. The legislation is taken seriously by the courts; in June of 2005, an academic and the rector of Gothenburg University were convicted for destroying research information to prevent it being released to a journalist 144.

## **Thailand**

In Thailand, the Official Information Act of 1997 extends to all public agencies<sup>85</sup>. It is not clear from the law if this extends to public universities, but an article discussing disclosure complaints against Khon Kaen University and Kasetsart University, both public, confirms the assumption that it does<sup>86</sup>. A large number of Thai universities are private<sup>87</sup>, and it does not appear that these are covered by the legislation.

# **Trinidad and Tobago**

In Trinidad and Tobago, the Freedom of Information Act, 1999 extends to "public authorities", defined by a lengthy list of classes<sup>88</sup>. A relevant government website

explicitly refers to the University of the West Indies as a public authority<sup>89</sup>, making it clear that public universities are subject to the Act.

# **United Kingdom**

In the United Kingdom, the Freedom of Information Act 2000 covers public bodies through England, Wales and Northern Ireland, whilst the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 covers public bodies which are controlled by the Scottish parliament. Whilst the universities are not publicly operated *per se*, they are – in all but one case – publicly funded, and thus covered under the terms of the Acts. The one private university in England is not subject to the Act. A detailed study of this situation is on page 46.

# Countries with universities exempt

Interestingly, Israel is the only country where it can be determined for certain that the legislation does not apply to universities on a national scale. Some nations have been this way in the past, however – Ireland, for example.

## Israel

In Israel, the Freedom of Information Law 5758-1998 applies to public authorities. These are defined according to listed categories, with the government required to publish a list of the organisations that fall into the two most general categories ("The government and government ministries, including supporting agencies" and "Legally founded corporations")<sup>90</sup>. Whilst it was not possible to find this list, in English or in Hebrew – it is possible that it was never fully published – a story in *Haaretz* refers to a proposal to add "the universities and public colleges" to this list being dismissed by the justice minister. However, it also notes that the current justice minister is in favour of extending the law to cover these bodies<sup>91</sup>. Israel contains eight universities, all of which appear to be publicly funded. Of the 26 other institutions of higher education, all degree-awarding, eight are not state funded<sup>92</sup>.

# Countries where the applicability to universities is unclear

In the following countries, it was not possible to make any informed judgement about whether or not the legislation applied to universities, either through a lack of information about the educational system, about the legislation itself, or through ambiguities in the phrasing of the legislation.

# **Angola**

In Angola, the Access to Administrative Documents Act has recently been enacted<sup>93</sup>. However, a translated text is not available, and it is not possible to determine the institutions to which it applies. Some reports note that this was put together as part of a package of laws including state secrecy and national security acts<sup>94</sup>, and as such it is possible that this is a secrecy law in the guise of an openness one, similar to the situation in Zimbabwe.

## **Austria**

In Austria, the constitution of 1987 requires government bodies to make available information about their duties, whilst providing for strict secrecy requirements for other information. Further to this, the 1987 *Auskunftspflichtgesetz* (Federal Law on the Duty to Furnish Information) requires the "national departments, the municipalities, the municipality federations and the self-governing bodies" to answer questions about their areas of responsibility; the nine *Bundesländer* (states) have similar laws<sup>1</sup>. Following the reforms of the Schüssel government, it is unclear if the universities are classed as governmental bodies in this sense<sup>95</sup>.

# **Belgium**

In Belgium, the constitution provides "the right to consult any administrative document", and this is supported at a federal level by the Loi du 11 avril 1994 relative à la publicité de l'administration. (Law on public access to the administration), which applies to federal authorities and other authorities operating on a federal level. The Loi du 12 novembre 1997 relative à la publicité de l'administration dans les provinces et les communes (Law on public access to the administration in the provinces and the communities) makes similar provisions for government on the local level; this is then supported by a variety of legislation passed by the individual regions. Education is the responsibility of the

community governments<sup>98</sup> – there are three, one for each of the national language areas, although the *Deutschsprachige Gemeinschaft Belgien* (German-speaking community) does not contain any universities. It is difficult to determine to what degree the universities are subject to the local laws, as copies of these are unavailable.

## Chile

In Chile, the Law of Freedom of Opinion and Information and Journalistic Practice serves as freedom of information legislation. It apparently applies to "state agencies". However, a copy of the text of the law could not be found, making it difficult to determine if universities are subject to the Law. A 2005 Inter-American Press Association resolution suggests that it is ineffective in its intended role<sup>99</sup>.

# China (People's Republic of China)

Whilst the People's Republic of China has no freedom of information legislation on a national level, for historical reasons it contains a strongly autonomous Westernised region, Hong Kong. Two years before their return to China, the province put in place a Code on Access to Information, which remains in force. It extends to all government departments, defined in an annex<sup>100</sup>. The city contains twelve institutions able to grant degrees, of which eight are styled universities<sup>101</sup>. They appear to all be public institutions, and are heavily government subsidised. However, it is not clear if the Code extends to them – they are not mentioned in the Annex or in the annotated guidelines<sup>102</sup>. Macao, the other Special Autonomous Region, has no such legislation.

Hong Kong is not the only location in China to have such legislation, however; the city government of Guangzhou passed the Municipal Provisions on Open Government Information. It extends to all government agencies within the municipal region<sup>103</sup>. Shanghai later adopted provincial-level legislation, and a number of other cities are moving towards similar policies<sup>104</sup>, though many of these deal only with the duty to publish information, not the right to request unpublished information. However, it is unclear to what degree universities are affected; they appear to be controlled by central government, and thus exempt from such local legislation.

## **Greece**

In Greece, the Code of Administrative Procedure appears to be the dominant legislation. It gives access to "documents drawn up by public services"<sup>105</sup>. It is not clear if this extends to public universities.

## **Iceland**

In Iceland, the Information Act applies to government authorities at both national and local levels<sup>106</sup>. It is not clear if this extends to public universities.

## **Japan**

In Japan, the Law Concerning Access to Information Held by Administrative Agencies extends to "administrative organs", as defined by a complex set of categories<sup>107</sup>. One definition refers to "other organs under Article 8-2 of the National Government Organization Law", which in turn allows for the establishment of "Educational or Training Facilities" by government organs<sup>108</sup>. It is not clear if this provision is related to the establishment of the universities, however.

# Kyrgyzstan

In Kyrgyzstan, the Law on Guarantees and Free Access to Information gives access to information. However, the translated version of the law is terse and confusing; it is unclear exactly what bodies are covered and what the requirements are <sup>109</sup>.

## Latvia

In Latvia, the Freedom of Information Law extends to "State administrative institutions and Local Government institutions" <sup>110</sup>. It is unclear if this extends to the public universities.

## **Netherlands**

In the Netherlands, the Government Information (Public Access) Act extends to a variety of administrative authorities<sup>111</sup>. It is, however, not clear from the Act if it encompasses the universities; there is reference to "administrative authorities responsible for education and research", but it notes that these may only be liable if so designated by an Order in Council. No list of these Orders is available, but it strongly suggests the intent is to exclude universities by default.

## **Pakistan**

In Pakistan, the Freedom of Information Ordinance, 2002, applies to all public bodies, including "any office of any Board, Commission, Council, or other body established by, or under a Federal Law", It is unclear, without further information on the legal status of Pakistani universities, whether this would apply to them. It appears that at least one public university was chartered by an act of Parliament 113, but it is possible that these institutions are actually operated by the provinces or territories.

## Slovakia

In Slovakia, the Act on Free Access to Information mandates "obligees" to provide information<sup>114</sup>. In addition to governmental bodies, these are defined as including "legal entities established by law" or "Legal entities established by Obligees … that manage public funds or operate with state property". It is unclear if this extends to the public universities; an advisory document notes that the Act extends to schools, but does not mention universities<sup>115</sup>.

## **Switzerland**

In Switzerland, the *Loi fédérale sur le principe de la transparence dans l'administration* (Federal law on the principle of the transparency in the administration) applies to various state bodies<sup>116</sup>. It is unclear from the law exactly what these bodies are – no English translation was found, and the text refers back to definitions in 1960s legislation – but a rough translation suggests that universities are unlikely to be covered.

## **Turkey**

In Turkey, the Law on the Right to Information is described as covering "public institutions and private organizations that qualify as public institutions". Confusingly, the translation of the law appears to define this recursively – the law applies to public institutions, and "institutions" are defined as the authorities to which the law applies<sup>117</sup>. It is not possible to determine the scope of the legislation.

## **Ukraine**

In the Ukraine, the Law on Information gives access to official documents of "state bodies"<sup>118</sup>; the Law is not clear on a definition of this term, and as such it is not possible to determine if the scope of the legislation extends to the universities.

# **Uruguay**

In Uruguay, it is unclear if freedom of information legislation exists. A source notes that "Article 694 of Law No. 16.736 establishes the freedom of information at the governmental level"<sup>119</sup>, but a reading of that law fails to find a clear discussion of this <sup>120</sup>. As the law is only available in Spanish, however, this may simply be an error in translating relatively abstruse concepts. Another source notes that the lower house of the Uruguayan Congress passed a bill in 2002 on the right to public information<sup>6</sup>; it is not completely clear if this is the same legislation being referred to, but it seems likely. It is unclear if this bill ever was passed into law. No information on coverage or implementation is available, though the existing governmental culture is described as strongly secretive.

## **Uzbekistan**

In Uzbekistan, the Law on Principles and Guarantees of Freedom of Information, from 2003, is the current controlling legislation. However, this is only available in Russian<sup>121</sup>, and it has not as yet been possible to obtain a usable translation. The law it superseded, the 1997 Law On Guarantees and Freedom of Access to Information, is available in bodies, English, and deals with "State self-government bodies, organizations..."122. Were this scope to be carried through to the current legislation, it is likely the state universities would be covered. There do not appear to be any private universities in the nation<sup>123</sup>. This legislation may not apply in Karakalpakstan, an autonomous sub-entity of the nation; the statute states that freedom of access to information is "also regulated by the legislation" of that republic, but little detail on this is available.

## Venezuela

In Venezuela, the Organic Law on Administrative Procedures gives access to "public information or ... government sources for interested parties or their representatives"<sup>124</sup>. A copy of this legislation has not been found, and as such the scope is unclear. There are additionally various constitutional provisions, though access to information is in practice considered to be lacking<sup>6</sup>.

## Countries where applicability varies

In the following countries, applicability to public universities varies across the nation. This may be through some regional laws providing exemptions, as in Canada, or the fact that some jurisdictions encompassing universities have not yet enacted freedom of information legislation, as in some territories of the United States.

#### Canada

In Canada, the federal Access to Information Act affects "any department or ministry of state of the Government of Canada", further listed in Schedule I of the Act<sup>125</sup>. The federal government, however, does not operate or control universities; these are the responsibility of the individual provinces and territories, and thus not covered by the federal Act<sup>126</sup>. However, all provinces and territories have some form of freedom of information legislation; currently, in ten of thirteen provinces and territories, universities are subject to the local legislation. A detailed study of this situation is on page 49.

### Germany

In Germany, the recently passed Federal Freedom of Information Act is, as it suggests, binding on agencies the federal government; the scope of the Act is not entirely clear<sup>127</sup>. It appears that higher education is the responsibility of the individual *Bundesländer* (states), and thus the relevant legislation would be on the regional level; four of the sixteen states have some form of freedom of information legislation<sup>128</sup>. Of these, the scope of the legislation in Berlin is unclear<sup>129</sup>; in Brandenburg, the legislation explicitly refers to "schools" and "research establishments" and may well thus extend to universities<sup>130</sup>. For Nordrhein-Westfalen, and Schleswig-Holstein, no translated form of the legislation was available, and thus the scope could not be determined.

# **Serbia and Montenegro**

In the Republic of Serbia, the Law on Free Access to Information of Public Importance gives access to documents of public authorities<sup>131</sup>, defined in such a way that it is likely it would include the public universities. An equivalent law pending in the Republic of Montenegro does not yet appear to have passed; a draft is not available, but considering the precedent of Bosnia and Herzegovina, it is likely that the two pieces of legislation will prove substantially identical when both are passed.

### **United States of America**

In the United States, the Freedom of Information Act is the controlling freedom of information legislation nationally. Individual states have their own legislation. The federal act affects authorities of the Government, which generally speaking does not include the higher education system, as this is operated under the aegis of the states. However, the US military operates a small number of military universities, which are subject to the Act, as do one or two other federal departments. These institutions, however, are not open to the public.

The US has a strong private university system – indeed, most of the well-known American institutions are private – which is predominantly not covered by the local legislation. However, some exceptions have been ruled to exist by courts, and the legislation of several states is written such that these exceptions could well be held to be widespread. All public universities are subject to *some* form of freedom of information legislation, with the exception of four universities operated by Native American nations, those in the territories of Puerto Rico and the Northern Mariana Islands, and a somewhat confusing situation in the state of Delaware. These are quasi-independent of both federal and state jurisdictions, and this renders it unclear of their status. A detailed study of this situation is on page 52, with legislation discussed on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis on page 77.

## Countries with pending legislation

In the following countries, some form of freedom of information legislation is currently pending – either going through the governmental process or waiting to be put before parliament. Where a copy of the draft legislation could be found, it was examined; this was only possible for a fraction of the countries, however.

### **Argentina**

In Argentina, Congress has not yet passed the Freedom of Information Law<sup>132</sup>; some access legislation exists, however, on the local level<sup>133</sup>. The content of the draft bill is unknown, and the coverage cannot be determined.

#### **Armenia**

In Armenia, the Law on Freedom of Information was approved by the government in 2003, but as of 2004 had not come into force pending government plans to replace it<sup>1</sup>. It would extend to public bodies, organisations operating with public funds, and "private organisations of public importance" This would almost certainly extend to the public universities.

## Azerbaijan

In Azerbaijan, there is a constitutional provision for the freedom of information, and a Law on Freedom of Information. However, this is "a declarative proclamation ... rather than an operational freedom of information law"<sup>135</sup>. Whilst the nation intends to enact implementing legislation, and drafts have been considered by the national parliament, nothing has yet come into force. The draft produced by the Media Law Institute would cover "legal entities carrying out education [duties]" and "private legal entities and physical persons (in connection with carrying out ... provision of education"; the draft produced by the Government defines authorised bodies to include "state bodies ... and juridical persons financed from the state budget in full or partly"<sup>136</sup>. In both cases, it is clear that public universities would be included; it is possible that under the Media Law Institute draft the private universities would also be covered. Azerbaijan contains a number of private universities<sup>137</sup>.

#### **Botswana**

In Botswana, there does not appear to currently be any freedom of information legislation, but the government was slowly moving towards one in 2003<sup>138</sup>. No draft bill has been found, meaning that the coverage cannot be determined.

### Fiji

In Fiji, there is currently no law relating to freedom of information. The Constitution provides a general right of access, but interestingly also places a requirement on the government to "enact a law to give members of the public rights of access to official documents of the Government and its agencies" as soon as is practical<sup>139</sup>. The government did do so, and a draft bill was circulated in 2000 with the intent of passing it later that year<sup>140</sup>. However, a coup in 2000 derailed this, and the government has not as made any new moves towards enacting such legislation<sup>141</sup>. A local organisation, the Citizens' Constitutional Forum, proposed a draft bill in 2004, with the aim of kindling public debate. Under this draft, the act would cover "public bodies", including those established by statute, or owned or substantially funded by the state<sup>142</sup>. Fiji is one of the owning governments of the University of the South Pacific, and contains one other state university, the Fiji Institute of Technology; it is probable that both these institutions would be subject to the act if it was to be passed in the form of the current draft.

#### Ghana

In Ghana, the Freedom of Information Bill was resubmitted to the Cabinet in 2005<sup>143</sup>. The draft text of the Bill is not known, and thus the coverage of the legislation cannot be determined. There is a constitutional provision for freedom of information<sup>5</sup>, but it requires enabling legislation that is not currently in force.

#### Indonesia

In Indonesia, the House of Representatives drafted and submitted a freedom of information bill in 2004, but as of 2005 it remained dormant, with the government taking no action<sup>144</sup>. A copy of the draft was not available, and as such it was not possible to determine the scope of the legislation.

#### **Jordan**

In Jordan, there appears to be a draft Law on the Guarantee of Access to Information<sup>145</sup>. However, no copy can be found of this, making it impossible to determine the scope, and it is unclear how involved the government has been in the drafting process, suggesting that the draft may be little more than a discussion paper.

### Kenya

In Kenya, the draft Freedom of Information Act 2005 is currently pending, having been promised by the President<sup>146</sup>. The draft text of the Act is not available, however, and thus the coverage of the legislation cannot be determined.

#### Lesotho

In Lesotho, the Access and Receipt of Information Bill was before Parliament in 2003/4<sup>147</sup>, but the current status of the legislation is unknown. As the draft bill was not published, the scope of the legislation is unknown.

#### **Maldives**

In the Maldives, there is currently no freedom of information legislation. In 2004, the government announced that one was expected to be passed this year<sup>148</sup>; this has not yet transpired<sup>149</sup>. No copy of the draft is available, and the scope of the legislation cannot be determined.

### **Monaco**

In Monaco, there does not appear to be any current freedom of information legislation. A 2004 draft resolution by the Council of Europe, regarding Monaco's intention to join that body, mentioned that "laws on freedom of the media (freedom of information) ... will be enacted at the spring session of the legislature" however, the resolution as passed removed the reference to freedom of information 151. It is has not been possible to determine if this law was ever enacted, or if so what level of freedom of information it provides.

### Mozambique

The government, in August 2005, produced a draft Freedom of Information Bill. It is expected to become law within two years<sup>152</sup>. However, the text of the draft bill is not known, and thus the scope of the legislation cannot be determined.

#### Nauru

In Nauru, the Freedom of Information Act 2004 was laid before the parliament in that year, but was not passed. Further work on the legislation is currently being held back, pending a review of the country's Constitution, but it is considered likely that the principles of the proposed Act will either be incorporated into the revised Constitution or passed shortly thereafter<sup>153</sup>. Nauru has no local university, but is one of the owning governments of the University of the South Pacific. The draft bill is very similar to that of Fiji <sup>154</sup>.

Nauru is an interesting case, as it was possible to correspond with one of the co-authors of the draft bill. On enquiry, he stated that there had been no conscious consideration of including the University, but felt that the intent of the law encompassed it; the possibility of amending the draft to clarify this was suggested. It was not clear if the law as it stood would encompass the University, though it is likely that it probably would be construed that way. (An interesting supporting point was that the University rents the land it is on from the government, illegal for a foreign body under Nauruan law)<sup>153</sup>.

### **Nigeria**

In Nigeria, the Freedom of Information Bill was before Parliament in June 2005, and considered likely to pass<sup>155</sup>. The text of the Bill is not available, however, and thus the coverage of the legislation cannot be determined.

#### Sri Lanka

In Sri Lanka, the 2004 draft Freedom of Information Act has been endorsed by both major parties, but had not been passed as of January 2005<sup>156</sup>. No draft is available, thus coverage cannot be determined.

### Uganda

In Uganda, there is currently no freedom of information legislation. The 1995 Constitution gives an explicit right of access to information, but requires Parliament to enact laws governing this right. These laws have not yet been passed, though a bill was put before parliament in 2004. As it stood, the draft bill appears to have extended to all governmental agencies, which would likely include the public universities<sup>157</sup>. It has not been possible to determine if this bill was passed into law.

## Countries with strongly limited legislation

In the following countries, the legislative provisions for freedom of information are ignored in practice, are limited solely to the media, or are otherwise not effective access legislation for the purposes of this study.

#### Malta

In Malta, there is a vague constitutional provision for freedom of information. However, there is no overall freedom of information legislation. Existing laws provide for limited access to government information by journalists, and for public access to information in the national archives<sup>158</sup>.

### **Tajikistan**

In Tajikistan, there is effectively no freedom of information legislation. Whilst the government is required by the Law on Television and Radio Broadcasting to provide information to the media, this is effectively ignored. There are no general access laws<sup>159</sup>.

#### Yemen

In Yemen, there is a limited right of freedom of information; the Press and Publications Law of 1990 allows "the right to peruse official reports, facts, information and data". However, the scope of this law is limited – it extends only to licensed journalists – and it is not made clear how "official information" is defined<sup>160</sup>. As such, it is not possible to determine to what degree universities are liable.

#### **Zimbabwe**

In Zimbabwe, the relevant legislation is the Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. This provides a right of access to records held by public bodies, which are defined in an attached Schedule of that Act<sup>161</sup>. However, this right is strictly limited to citizens or legal permanent residents, or media organisations legally registered under the Act. It can, in many ways, be seen as an act to gag the media in the name of freedom of information<sup>162</sup> – it even includes a requirement for registration by journalists. It is unclear from the text of the Act if universities are covered. An earlier draft Bill from 2001 is interesting; its attached Schedule includes an entry for universities under "public bodies", which is not present in the current Act<sup>163</sup>. The omission of this entry from the current

bill would suggest that universities are not covered under this version, but it is possible that they were simply removed as surplus; they could be classed under "Any statutory corporation, authority, board, ... or other statutory body", or as public companies. Were it not for this unexplained alteration, it would be assumed that publicly owned universities were subject to the Act. However, the state of the law, and the fact that it is effectively unused for its nominal purpose, renders this question moot.

## Case Study - United Kingdom

In the United Kingdom, the major legislation is the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (2000 c. 36)<sup>164</sup>. This legislation extends to a wide range of "public authorities", defined in an attached schedule. However, it does not extend to any agency controlled by the Scottish Parliament; these bodies are subject to the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (2002 asp 13)<sup>165</sup>. The two pieces of legislation are broadly similar in the classes of bodies they cover, though the Scottish law has slightly stronger wording governing disclosure of information.

Universities in the United Kingdom are almost always considered public bodies; whilst often operated as independent organisations, they are heavily funded by the state. In the 2000 Act, Part IV of Schedule 1 extends to "the governing body of ... a university receiving financial support under section 65 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992" and the governing body of any institution of a university which falls under that section. Section 65 refers to receiving funding from the national funding councils (bodies such as HEFCE)<sup>166</sup>. It also explicitly extends to any institution in the further education sector; this is a simpler definition, as the further education colleges possess a lot less legal independence than the universities. The quoted definition refers to England and Wales; a functionally similar section afterwards covers Northern Ireland.

However, this section does not apply to Scotland; the thirteen Scottish universities themselves are noted under Part 5 of Schedule 1 of the 2002 Act, as "institution(s) in receipt of funding from the Scottish Higher Education Funding Council other than any institution whose activities are principally carried on outwith Scotland". In both the 2000 and 2002 Acts, the definition clearly encompasses all publicly-funded universities, though interestingly the 2002 Act does not contain the limitation of "governing bodies".

The UK as a whole contains a number of private educational institutions, but only one non-state-funded\* university; the University of Buckingham, which "remains independent of HEFCE, although it receives a £2,640 fee subsidy for each of its UK students" As such, it would appear that Buckingham is the only UK university not subject to the 2000 Act. All other conventional UK universities, however, are, including the Open University

<sup>\*</sup> In the light of the strong independence of many British universities, "private" would seem a misnomer in this regard.

and the MoD's Defence Academy<sup>168</sup>. As the governing criteria is who *pays*, rather than who *operates*, this is much clearer than in other jurisdictions.

The Acts do not, it should be noted, extend to Overseas Territories of the United Kingdom (such as Bermuda or the Falkland Islands), nor do they extend to the Crown Dependencies (the Isle of Man and the various Channel Islands). These would be covered by separate local legislation, which does not appear to exist.

Early versions of the legislation, it is interesting to note, were substantially simpler. A draft Freedom of Information and Privacy Bill, circulated in 1977, took three sentences to define its coverage – compared to the current lengthy Schedule – and included "any public body or authority established by statute" as well as "any other body established by the Crown". This would likely have covered the Universities, though it cannot be stated for certain <sup>169</sup>.

Both Acts only came into force on January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2005, though there had been a gradual compliance process in place before that. As such, it is too early to reasonably expect any significant information on the results of the implementation, much less any statistics. The effects do not confine themselves to being felt after the Acts come into force, however; as discussed earlier, the requirements to prepare for implementation involve significant investment of time and resources in advance.

A 2004 study noted that institutions were required to prepare a publication scheme (and have it approved), though the existence of a model publications scheme produced by the Joint Information Systems Committee reduced this burden somewhat. Review and editing processes would have to be set up, as well as a monitoring system for tracking individual requests in order to provide statistical data on the implementation. There are also notes on the potential intellectual property issues; for example, a university making its HR policies public could lead to another institution choosing to develop their own policies from these. Additional legal costs would thus have to be incurred in providing preventative statements and arranging licensing systems. A governmental Model Action Plan for implementing proper records management, which suggests that it takes at least a year and a half to institute a full programme, including an overall information audit and the hiring of a professional records manager, is mentioned; additionally, the use of an electronic documents management system is suggested, which would further increase the expense. The Act is described as "[forcing] universities to file their information properly, possibly for the first time' 170.

An interesting sidenote is the issue of student unions. In the UK, these are funded through the university, and as such do not directly receive money from the funding councils. In order to be subject under the 2000 Act, they would have to be "any college, school, hall or other institution of a university [defined as above]", and in order to be subject under the 2002 Act they would need to be legally considered as part of the university.

However, whilst often *de facto* treated as a part of their parent university, it is not at all clear that they are *de jure* a part of it; very few court cases have ruled on this issue, and it seems likely that the issue of whether or not a union is legally a constituent part of the university is strongly dependent on the situation of the particular institution<sup>171</sup>. This may lead to an interesting situation arising where, whilst all universities are subject, this set of associated bodies may or may not be, on an apparently random basis.

## Case Study - Canada

In Canada, the national-level freedom of information legislation is the Access to Information Act. However, education is the responsibility of the individual provinces and territories, which control universities. (Unlike Australia and the US, the national government in Canada does not directly fund any universities). All regions, however, have some form of local freedom of information law.

According to a 1996 study, in four of the provinces – Newfoundland and Labrador, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia & Manitoba – and in the Northwest Territories and the Yukon, the laws do not cover local public bodies, and thus exclude colleges and universities. Conversely, in Alberta, British Columbia, Quebec and Saskatchewan, the laws cover universities as public bodies. Unusually, in Ontario, whilst colleges and schools are covered as public bodies, compliance by universities is *voluntary*<sup>3</sup>.

This list misses one province, Prince Edward Island, which only enacted its Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act in 2002. The legislation covers public bodies<sup>172</sup>, though the regulations of 2003 do not list universities as an organisation considered a public body under the Act<sup>173</sup>. The province's Information Commissioner confirms the Act is not meant to apply to "post-secondary educational institutions"<sup>174</sup>.

It also misses one territory, Nunavut, which was created in 1999 from the Northwest Territories. Due to this status, unless amended or repealed by Nunavut, all Northwest Territories legislation in force as of 1999 remains in force in Nunavut. The Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act has been amended four times, though not significantly, which suggests that post-secondary education would not be covered.

In the decade since 1996 many of these laws have been amended; some examination confirms that universities are still covered in Alberta<sup>175</sup>, British Columbia<sup>176</sup>, and Quebec<sup>177</sup>. In Saskatchewan, confusingly, they are still covered, but under the Local Authority Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act rather than the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act<sup>178</sup>. As these two Acts seem to date to the same year, it is unclear why it was felt two were needed.

However, the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act in Manitoba now covers universities, explicitly citing them by name<sup>179</sup>. In Newfoundland and Labrador, the Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act now covers the one university in the province, again referencing it by name<sup>180</sup>. In the Northwest Territories, the Access to

Information and Protection of Privacy Act allows for public bodies to be designated by regulations<sup>181</sup>, and these now extend the coverage to Aurora College, the only postsecondary institution in the territory<sup>182</sup>. (They do not extend to the college in Nunavut, which appears to have been created recently). In Nova Scotia, the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act now extends to universities<sup>183</sup>.

In Ontario, however, universities are still not covered; the Information and Privacy Commissioner's annual report of 2004 called out for these bodies to be included<sup>184</sup>. The "voluntary compliance" of the 1996 study does not seem to be mentioned. In practical terms, voluntary compliance is indistinguishable from a situation of no coverage, and as such it may have fallen by the wayside. In the Yukon, as well, the Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act does not appear to cover postsecondary institutions<sup>185</sup>.

It is unclear if the Right to Information Act in New Brunswick covers universities; the law is worded vaguely<sup>186</sup>, but a 1998 discussion paper proposed amending the law to cover universities<sup>187</sup>. It does not appear that this paper resulted in amendments being passed, but the vague terminology of the law does not rule this out. The University of New Brunswick website makes no reference to Right to Information Act requirements, which seems to indicate that it is not subject<sup>188</sup>.

It should be noted that, in all three territories, there are no universities *per se*; each of the three has one (multi-campus) college.

As can be seen, we have gone from seven regions where universities were not covered and four where they were in 1996 to having ten where they are and three where they are not as of 2005, with two of those having publicly discussed extending the law to cover universities – and the apparent spirit of the regulations in the Northwest Territories would likely have meant the inclusion of the college in Nunavut had it existed at the time, so potentially eleven to two.

Returning to the 1996 study, we can see the motives behind originally excluding and including the universities from the scope of the legislation. Both British Columbia and Ontario had public consultation processes. In British Columbia, the universities – along with a wide number of other public bodies – submitted proposals requesting sixteen specific changes for situations unique to the universities, along with routine suggestions on minor clarifications. The government held that no public body should be able to claim an exemption through uniqueness, and dealt only with specific issues that had no equivalent in the general public bodies. The universities were granted exemptions for

research and lecture notes – on the grounds that making them public did not significantly increase accountability – and allowed a slightly increased period of implementation. Other requests, mainly related to confidentiality and the privacy aspects of the law, were dismissed.

In Ontario, however, the universities argued for a special agreement over the legislation, saying that full compliance would threaten both their economic and academic welfare. An agreement was reached that universities would be subject to voluntary compliance – as has been noted earlier, a decade later this has become effectively a complete exemption.

The study also notes that the legal and academic contexts of Ontario and British Columbia are essentially the same; in effect, the only difference between the two is that the Ontarian government was more willing to accept pressure from the universities<sup>3</sup>.

As far as implementation, a set of limited statistics is available covering the first four years of implementation, 1994-8, at Simon Fraser University, a large institution in British Columbia. On a year-by-year basis, around one third of the requests were for personal information, under the privacy clauses of the Act, which can be ignored for our purposes. Whilst requests dropped off in the final year of the study, the manpower taken up peaked and remained constant – 90% of the time of two full-time equivalent clerical employees. By 1998, the study estimated some 50% of the time of the Archives department was taken up by Freedom of Information requests. The average request took up around two days of staff time, at a nominal cost \$546 – it was noted that only 9% of this time (and 7% of the cost) was spent on services for which a fee was allowed to be charged, the location and preparation of records. Because of charging regulations, however – it is common to require charges below a certain amount be waived, as they would cost more to administrate than they bring in – only 2% of the average cost was recoverable. In practice, only 1.25% was recovered over the four years – had fees not been waived, this would still only have totalled 3.25%<sup>2</sup>.

Whilst these numbers may be slightly inflated by personal-information requests (for which fees cannot, by law, be charged), they do not take into account ancillary costs – publicity about the regulations, for example, or any new data-handling policies that were instituted to comply with the Act – involved with implementation. As such, it is clear that they represent a noticeable cost on the universities.

## Case Study - United States

In the United States, the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. §552) was the original freedom of information legislation at the federal level<sup>189</sup>. It affects government agencies, which are defined in some detail in 5 U.S.C. §551<sup>190</sup> as "any authority of the Government of the United States" with a long list of conditions. However, education in the United States is strongly decentralised, the responsibility of the states, which are not covered by the Act. It is notable that the governments of the overseas territories and possessions are not subject to the Act, nor is that of the District of Columbia; universities located in these jurisdictions would be subject to local legislation, not federal.

All of the individual states operate a public university system – in some cases, more than one system in a single state – and all have some form of freedom of information legislation. In order to determine the degree to which universities are covered, it is necessary to examine the individual legislation. For a listing of the legislation in individual states, please see the appendix on page 77; most states have broadly similar legislation, though some have interesting characteristics.

With the partial exemption of Delaware, all conventional public universities appear to be covered by the legislation, with the tribal universities and overseas territories posing an interesting quandary in this regard. However, the degree of coverage can vary significantly, with some states having extensive university-specific exemptions and others hardly considering their existence. An interesting corollary is that many states have, in addition, "open meetings" legislation, which usually extend to all bodies affected by freedom of information. These fulfil much the same role, but give citizens the right to attend and observe meetings of public bodies, not just read the documentation related to these meetings. Whilst common in the US, these are rare internationally.

Often, the only reference to the university – for example, in Missouri – comes through referencing the Board of Regents, the University President, or a similar "management" body. Lacking an understanding of the specific legal situations in individual states, it is somewhat unclear if this only extends to that body, if it extends to that body and its administrative staff, or if it extends to the whole university by "cascading" from the head down. In general, the latter case was assumed, but this may not always be valid. The case of Delaware is interesting here; it exempts the state universities as a public body, but makes it clear that the Board of Trustees of each, and documentation relating to the

expenditure of public funds, are subject. This, however, only serves to muddy the waters further.

In several cases, an exception is made for library records; it is explicitly stated that personal library records are not subject to the legislation, for obvious reasons of privacy. These statutes are likely aimed at the public library systems, but would also encompass libraries at schools or universities covered by the legislation; however, these exemptions were not generally noted, as it is likely conventional privacy statutes would cover them. However, the inclusion of explicit language is interesting to note; library records are, in many of these laws, put on a par with personal medical records, employment records, and academic transcripts. In Kansas, one particular semi-commercial body of a single university is specifically exempted; this suggests that the universities are fully capable of lobbying for exceptions to the law if they so choose.

A further common theme is to provide an exception for records relating to the identity of candidates for the post of a university president. The reasons for this are not well understood, but it is notable that in states without such exemptions, or where they are seen as insufficient, selection committees have been known to spend a great deal of effort and ingenuity in avoiding having to disclose the identity of candidates. In one notable case, this went to the point of the recruitment committee travelling to a different state for "informal meetings" with candidates, as these would not constitute interviews, and thus they would not be considered "finalists" in the recruiting process<sup>191</sup>. Very often, exceptions are provided (quite sensibly) for records relating to the operating of examinations, though in many cases these would not be liable anyway through being internal working papers.

In Delaware, a recent court ruling noted that the law, inasmuch as it gave the right of access only to citizens of that state, was unconstitutional. Whilst a Federal court made this ruling, it is not generally binding on other states, as it was only made by the District Court. However, several other states – as noted above – have similar provisions, with the right of access guaranteed only to citizens; it is quite likely that if these are challenged in a Federal court, the decision will follow this one. Delaware is particularly contentious because its beneficial corporate law encourages companies to register there, and thus the government departments dealing with them are subject to Delaware law.

In the case of Delaware, with an explicit exemption for state universities, this may seem moot – but the precedent is interesting. Whilst out-of-state applicability would not seem

to be a major issue in the context of state universities, which exist to serve only the state, there is a wide market for "out-of-state" public education in the US, and they compete with private institutions in this regard. For example, at the prestigious University of California Berkeley, around 15% of applicants for undergraduate entry in 2002 were from outside California, with an additional 5% being from outside the US. Acceptance percentages are lower, but still around one in eight undergraduates are from outside California<sup>192</sup>.

As one of the key "markets" for obtaining contested data from universities is the student body, this potentially signals issues where the university population would not be able to use the legislation fully. However, it is unclear what state citizenship entails — in many cases, it seems to be little more than a residence requirement, an interpretation supported by the Constitution\*. This would still leave the issue of overseas students, however, who would not be eligible to be citizens of the state through not being citizens of the United States, as the two are intrinsically linked. By comparison, most states which do not use a citizenship requirement apply it to all persons, a term usually defined as to include anyone subject to the law.

There is also the further issue that the faculty of universities are often from overseas, and as such may not be naturalised citizens; the very nature of a university as a seat of learning means it will have a high throughput of such individuals. Limited application of the law here again becomes potentially worrying. Even if all state residents, citizen and non-citizen, are treated as "state citizens" for the purpose of such legislation, there is still a further issue to address – non-resident distance-learners. The distance-learning field has grown greatly over recent years, and is likely to continue doing so; several state universities have developed programs<sup>193</sup>. Citizen-only legislation could mean a significant handicap for a distance learner, compared to a resident student, in any dispute with the university.

In Vermont, the issue of whether a public university was a public body by the terms of the legislation was decided by a court ruling. The logic was that "the exception proved the rule" – the existence of a specific exception in the law relating to the university showed that there was, implicitly, a standard that the university was otherwise subject. It is unusual to see the definition laid out in this manner, but it is heartening; similar logic was often felt to confirm assumptions in the course of this analysis. This is the only

\_

<sup>\*</sup> Fourteenth Amendment: "...citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside"

reference found to an explicit challenge to whether a public university was subject to such legislation.

It is hard to judge the degree to which the legislation is used against universities without specific statistics, which have been difficult to find and are largely beyond the scope of this research. It is easier to find information on publicly challenged decisions, but researching court cases from overseas poses significant difficulties. It was noted that many states have a semi-formal appeals process not involving the court, where the state Attorney General, or a specified body, acts as an impartial advisor in the dispute. These decisions may or may not be legally binding, but usefully they are often published.

Examining these opinions to see to what degree they relate to universities is interesting. In Wyoming, with a very small number of appeals, there were no open-access cases relating to universities. In North Dakota, only one of around 140 cases did. The proportion was higher in Virginia – 8 of 154 – and Hawaii – 18 of around 300. The peak was in Oregon, with 12 of 150 cases involving universities, and Utah, with 13 of 133. Court records are available for Wisconsin, where 2 of 67 cases brought to court under the legislation involved universities. It is unclear precisely what these statistics indicate, but they are interesting to note – a range from effectively no appeals, through to almost 10% of the contentious cases. A small number of rulings, interestingly, have touched on the matter of student bodies such as student governments\*; it has generally been held that these are bodies subject to the legislation, either through being funded by the state or by being created by the university. In Washington, the major court case cited involved an enquiry by an animal-rights group; it is interesting to note that the issue of animal testing is one often quoted in the press as a possible use of the Acts in the UK.

Finally, a note on the most important caveat – that some private universities are covered under the Act. A court case in New York determined that Cornell University, whilst a private body, was to some degree subject to the law. This ruling is potentially very interesting; it hinged on the fact that Cornell received funding from the state in order to run specific colleges, and that under New York law a private body receiving funding from the state to carry out a public duty is subject to the law – this provision is in place to prevent the government delegating all public duties to private bodies and then claiming that records of the public duties are exempt through being held by a private

-

<sup>\*</sup> These are roughly analogous to UK student unions, but often with less legal grounding or formal status.

entity. Several other states have similar provisions, and it is possible that future challenges to the courts could result in private universities having a limited duty to comply with the law in regards to any public funding they receive. However, the situation at Cornell is complex, and seems to be the result of historical accident; it is not clear that any strictly comparable situation exists elsewhere in the US. The ruling was also made by a state court, and would thus not be considered significant precedent out of state.

# **Comparison of national situations**

### Coverage of universities

In a large number of cases, it is not possible to tell whether universities are covered or not. This is partly due to vaguely worded legislation, but also because it is difficult to fully understand the legal structure of a foreign education system, and to be able to determine what terms like "state agencies" mean in the context of specific national laws.

In many cases, it was only possible to assume, with varying levels of confidence, that universities were covered – indeed, it could only be assumed that *public* universities were covered. From a British standpoint, where private universities are rare, the significance of this distinction is quite surprising. As a result, in many countries, one group of higher education institutions is subject to the law whilst another is not. Similarly, in some countries, such as Canada, differing legislation on the regional level means that universities are covered, or not covered, dependent on where they are located. In only one country, Israel, was it clear that no universities were covered at all.

The higher level of accessibility for public universities makes sense from one standpoint – they are publicly funded institutions and so should be more accountable. However, from the point of view of the student body (or the staff), the institutions are often indistinguishable in practice, meaning that the community involved with a public university has greater recourse to openness than that at a private university.

In South Africa, private universities are covered by the legislation – along with most other organisations – where it is necessary for the "protection or exercise of legal rights". In Italy, only governmental organisations are covered, but this caveat still applies. Whilst better than no legislation at all, it does mean that many of the potential uses of the legislation at universities are blocked.

In the majority of jurisdictions with appropriate legislation, institutions carrying out public duties or expending public funds are believed to be covered, though generally only to the limits to which they spend those monies. Depending on the specific structure of the local system, this many or may not extend to the universities, public or private. This is, essentially, the manner in which universities are covered in the UK; the one private university which does not receive state education funding is exempt. In Delaware, there

is the interesting situation of a university exempt from coverage, but then covered again to the extent of its state-originating expenditures.

In some cases, public and private universities were covered to the same degree by virtue of neither being subject to the legislation. In several Canadian provinces, universities have become subject after originally being exempt; the same is true in Ireland, where universities have only been liable for about half the time the Act was in force. In the world at large, as in Canada, the trend seems to be to generally extend the scope of the legislation – in Israel, for example, the minister responsible for the legislation plans to have it encompass universities.

There is an interesting contrast here with the other trend, most noticeable in the US, for individual exemptions to the law to pile up, each coming about through particular pleading for a special case. In Kansas, for example, there is an explicit exemption for a single body of a single university, in Tennessee one for a single university-maintained database. In Moldova, there is an exemption for releasing research information that would jeopardise the right to priority of publication, an exemption almost tailor-made for universities.

It is, however, not possible to track a large number of these changes; in most cases, amendments are simply added into the existing legal code, and without knowing that the law has been amended it is not possible to determine that the scope of the legislation has altered. In Canada, it would not have been possible to determine that most provinces had changed their legislation without the use of the 1996 study. In Austria, changes in the educational system, rather than in the freedom of information regime, have confused the issue of whether universities are governmental bodies.

It is worth noting explicitly that only Israel is currently known to give a complete exemption to universities, though in some other – Switzerland, for example – this is suspected to be the case. In some regions of Canada and the US, universities are exempt, and in other regions of the US (the tribal jurisdictions) it is distinctly unclear whether either the state or federal laws apply. In the Netherlands, it appears that universities *may* be exempt by default but able to be included by order.

#### **Public-Private Issues**

The difference between public and private universities, whilst conceptually major, is relatively small "on the ground"; whilst they have different sources of funding and

different external influences, the internal dynamics are generally very similar. Likewise, the roles of freedom of information at the institutions are similar. The legislation normally works in a top-down manner, so that public universities are covered by virtue of the fact that they expend public funds, whilst private universities are exempt because they do not expend those funds. Whilst this fulfils one important role, that of public oversight of the government, it treats universities merely as an end-user of public money.

The case mentioned in Arizona, for example, where the legislation was used to reveal that information had been suppressed about past sexual abuse, could not have happened were private universities involved – but the facts of the case, and the facts of suppression, would have been identical either way. A student attempting to get records of particular interest to themselves will face the same bureaucratic challenges in a public or a private institution, but in one case will have the legislation to assist them. This is a significant issue; it is an open question to what degree it will prove to be contentious in the future.

### Regional universities

Earlier, regional universities were discussed. As freedom of information laws are by definition national in scope, it is an open question exactly how these bodies can be affected; certainly the legislation for participating countries did not mention them. Dependent on the local legal situation, they may or may not be considered bodies of the local government.

Belize is a member of the University of the West Indies, but their Act makes no reference to it. Neither is it mentioned in Jamaica, though it is noted there that "publicly-funded educational institutions" are liable. In Trinidad and Tobago, the University of the West Indies is known to be a public body. In Fiji and Nauru, the University of the South Pacific is not mentioned, but it seems probable that it would be subject to the legislation in either country if passed.

It is interesting to compare the regional universities to the situation applying in the United States, where we saw that there are potentially major issues involved with students moving between states and citizen-only access legislation. In the regional universities, it is not uncommon for students to move to a different nation for part of their studies – if their home nation provides a right of access, but not the one they are currently resident in, how would this apply to their dealings with the university? Or, for

example, appeals in a country with right of access, requesting documents only held onsite in a country with no such right. The issues are broad and wide-ranging – and potentially have an impact beyond just universities, dealing with international organisations generally – but the answer to them is currently unclear.

#### **National versus local effects**

In some nations, the universities are operated or funded on the regional level of government, not the national; in this case, legislation is only relevant if it applies to both the national and regional levels (as with India) or if the individual regions have specific legislation (as with Canada). In some cases – Australia and the US – the national law comes into play, as well, as a small number of universities are directly under the federal government. Regional legislation is harder to acquire copies of, and thus in cases such as Belgium it is not possible to determine coverage when the relevant legislation is on the regional level.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, as in the UK, there is no single piece of national-level legislation; constituent parts of the union have passed their own pieces of (mostly identical) legislation. In cases such as China, where the only regional legislation is on the local level, trying to determine how it extends to universities can be very difficult without a detailed understanding of the educational structure.

## Form of the legislation

In the United States, "open meeting" regulations are common – these are effectively the same as open records regulations, but rather than giving access to documents they give the right to attend and observe meetings of public bodies. These are uncommon elsewhere, however.

In many jurisdictions, the definition of a public body is constructed in such a way as to encompass the governing bodies of universities – their senate, or board of governors, or trustees, or the office of the chancellor, or other high-level administration – and, sometimes, it adds any secondary bodies with executive powers established under these. This is particularly common in the United States, but occurs in other jurisdictions – it is suspected that many of the countries where it was assumed that universities were covered would, examined in detail, turn out to work something like this. (It should be noted that, in many cases, an "advisory committee" which in practice takes all the decisions for the parent body is considered to be itself an executive body.) In France, this "top-down"

method is not explicitly described, but it should be noted that all the opinions of the *Commission d'Accès* referred to university presidents or similar officers.

It is unclear exactly what this means – and it is likely it varies between jurisdictions. One interpretation is that only the senior administration of the university are covered – where faculty records could be requested, for example, but particular research ones could not – whilst another is that the duty of access "cascades", with the entire university, in effect, considered to be exercising the executive powers conferred on the president or trustees. This latter interpretation, at least in the West, seems more plausible; it is analogous to the understanding that the executive directors of a company are responsible for any acts carried out by the company, on the grounds that it was exercising their executive powers.

## Effects of the legislation

In British Columbia, we saw that at Simon Fraser University the cost of implementing the legislation was two full-time clerical staff; in the UK, the baseline good practice is to have at least a records manager, and it is likely that the additional workload will grow similarly to that in Canada. When considered alongside ancillary costs – public education about the legislation, document management systems, increased archival requirements et cetera – it is clear that the financial burden, in a country where the legislation is commonly used, can prove reasonably significant.

Whilst actual statistics on the effects of implementation were not commonly available, some proxy methods were. In the United States, it was possible to identify past court cases, or past rulings by state Attorneys General, relating to the legislation; these gave some idea of how universities are affected compared to other bodies in the state. However, these *only* represent situations where an appeal or formal query has been made, and may not be statistically representative of the normal usage of the law; it is all to easy to imagine a situation where these numbers are grossly inflated in one jurisdiction because of a single, particularly obstructionist, institution. The Canadian study does not give us any information on the numbers of appeals made there, which would act as a baseline; in addition, the numbers of jurisdictions with such details are low, making it difficult to draw any reasonable inferences. Most critically, this metric cannot distinguish between the best case, where all requests are handled without any problem or contention, and the worst, where the law is completely inactive.

In an earlier section, we briefly touched on a Campaign for Freedom of Information paper mentioning past disclosure cases<sup>4</sup>. It is worth noting it again, as it gives some good examples of the ways in which this legislation can be used with regard to universities – the release of unpublished theses despite prior confidentiality agreements, the exposure of racially biased admissions processes, releasing confidential internal reports of scientific fraud, and internal personal references relating to an unsuccessful promotion. All of these are high-profile issues, and many could potentially have major detrimental effects on the disclosing institution.

An interesting detail of implementation is the aspect of burden of proof. A major principle of freedom of information legislation is that an applicant does not have to provide a reason for wanting information – rather, the government has to provide a reason not to give it to them. This is one of the most powerful aspects of the legislation, as it vastly reduces the scope for limiting disclosure; if the body has to put significant effort into keeping information secret, then it will have strong motivation to disclose any unimportant information.

In Italy, the legislation only gives access to information to the extent that it is needed to safeguard and exercise otherwise existing rights. Similar provisions exist in South Africa, though only with regard to private institutions – public institutions are fully subject to normal disclosure rules. In addition to limiting the scope of the law, this also has the effect of reversing the burden of proof; the applicant must be able to show that they have a specific need for the information. This effectively rules out speculative enquiries – but it can also rule out many minor, but legitimately relevant, enquiries, as the process to demonstrate that the information is needed may well be more of a burden than managing without it would be.

It has, however, been ruled in Italy that an enquiry made by someone representing the individual may be considered as though it were made by that individual – so a member of parliament, for example, could request information on behalf of a constituent. This ruling is a logical one, and it can reasonably be expected that in countries with comparable legislation, the same principle will be upheld. As was mentioned earlier, in many cases a large number of those involved with the university are unionised to some degree – teaching unions are often quite strong, and a large fraction of universities internationally have their own quasi-unionised student bodies – suggesting that, in this

context, these bodies may be able to play a much greater role in safeguarding freedom of information.

### Absence of legislation

Many nations have constitutional provisions, often recent and vaguely worded, about the right to access public information; similar provisions are common in individual US states. These are not, normally, of any practical use; sometimes they explicitly require that enabling legislation be passed, but more often they simply offer a general statement of intent.

In Monaco, the government was to commit to implementing freedom of information legislation in order to join the Council of Europe, but this appeared to have fallen by the wayside. Implementing such legislation appears to be a common condition for access to international organisations such as this. Whilst some nations, as with Azerbaijan, may drag at compliance, the existence of this requirement makes it likely that an effective law will be in place eventually.

Yemen has a viable information law, though it limits the right to journalists only. This is not uncommon – indeed, it can be considered a "first step" towards implementation of a full freedom of information law. However, for our purposes, this is a sufficiently limited law that it is not of use; uptake by the media is important, but uptake by the general population is much more significant. As discussed in the introduction, the "concerned population" of a university is different to that of the nation as a whole; its information needs are focused around the single institution, and the issues that concern them are not those that usually concern journalists. Whilst academic institutions often have their own media, or strong ties with local newspapers, these small media outlets do not usually have the resources needed to follow through inquiries on behalf of organised groups.

Some countries, such as Albania, have reasonably comprehensive legislation which is, however, effectively unused. Whilst in many ways this is effectively the same as having no law in force, it should be noted that once legislation has been enacted it remains in place; it will probably be easier, in the future, for someone to begin to put this legislation into use than it would be for them to pass a new law. Even where the law was used from the beginning, for example in British Columbia, we saw that it steadily increased over time; many of these nations may simply take longer to start this process.

In some nations, most notably Zimbabwe, the law is in effect a secrecy law; even if various government bodies are nominally required to disclose information, the legislation exists to *limit* the flow of information, not to *increase* it.

As nations without legislation have been included in the appendix, it is worth briefly discussing how they were determined to be so lacking. In some cases this can be inferred by reading between the lines of press freedom reports, such as *Access to Information in Latin America and the Caribbean*<sup>6</sup> – failure to mention such legislation in a review which discusses it in detail for other countries is a good indication that none exists – but in many others it simply is a result of attempts to find such legislation coming up blank. As such, it is quite possible that one or more of the listed nations has such legislation, but that nothing has been written about it in English or come to the attention of the international community – the only record found for the legislation in Angola was a single press release discussing a conference about it. Whilst existing studies are reasonably comprehensive, they do not appear to be exhaustive, and the most recent worldwide study is from mid-2004.

In many cases, it is fairly clear from press freedom reports than a repressive government – for example, that of Cameroon<sup>194</sup> – is not in any way likely to have passed such legislation. However, for this very reason, reports tend not to state the obvious, and, bearing in mind the situation with of Angola mentioned above, it seemed worthwhile to avoid applying common sense in this regard, tempting though it may be. If there is a clear and unambiguous recent source that there is no such legislation, then this is cited alongside the year.

Comparable surveys do not normally record negatives; it was felt to be worthwhile to do so here, in order to provide comprehensiveness and a baseline for future research. Where a nation only possessed a vague constitutional provision, this was not recorded; these are rarely actively used to guarantee freedom of information, and in the rare cases they are, the nation has been noted elsewhere – see, for example, the Philippines.

### **Conclusions**

Some form of freedom of information legislation was found in sixty-seven countries, with another seventeen countries having pending legislation. Of these, thirty-nine countries had active legislation that was believed to currently cover public universities – either explicitly confirmed or felt, on the balance of probabilities – whilst another five had pending legislation that was likewise believed to do so. Only one country completely exempted universities on a national level, though some nations have partial exemptions stemming from inconsistent regional legislation, where universities are controlled on the regional rather than the national level. Evidence was put forward to show that the trend is for the legislation encompass universities; the one nation with a complete exemption intends to extend the scope of the legislation, and in a variety of other jurisdictions universities which once had an exemption from the legislation have now had it extended to cover them. However, there is some evidence of an opposing trend to slowly add highly specific individual exceptions to the legislation, which may reduce the effect of this trend.

It was not possible to determine the scope of the legislation in thirty-one countries, for a variety of reasons including translation issues, lack of usable source material, or ambiguous legal terminology. The remaining one hundred and nine countries have no legislation known. It is expected that this number will decrease over time, as reform movements gather steam in more countries. In many of the nations with legislation it is believed to be dormant; in many more, however, it is active, and it is thought that those nations with inactive legislation will, over time, find it beginning to be used.

A small number of legislative clauses that affect private universities were noted, and the limitations in these cases made clear; the burden of proof for disclosure tended to be on the side of the applicant, not the university. Whilst these are useful clauses, they fall short of fully enabling freedom of information, as do jurisdictions that give a public right of access with such limitations, or give a general right but limit it solely to journalists.

The unusual issues of freedom of information at universities were discussed in a theoretical sense, and some examples of cases quoted from the literature along with a discussion of known effects of implementation. It was clear that this legislation can have a significant effect; however, the dichotomy between public and private universities

poses an interesting problem in this regard. Whilst the underlying principles of freedom of information – keeping tabs on the government – requires following public institutions, the freedom of information needs of the staff and students at public and private institutions are effectively identical.

The general legislative framework in which universities operate was briefly discussed, noting the commonality of legislation which refers only to the executive bodies of the institution, and debating what this means in practice. In the specific case of regional universities, it is unclear in what ways individual national legislation applies to these institutions, but it is clear that in at least some of these nations the regional universities are considered liable.

Overall, two thirds of nations with some freedom of information legislation are believed to extend it to universities; this proportion is potentially higher, and is believed to be a growing trend.

### Avenues for future research

The United States is a clear topic for further research, especially with regards to possible future developments in the legislation over matters such as the Cornell ruling. The individual states have been dealt with cursorily, and it is likely that more detailed research would turn up a large number of specific fragments of information on implementation; being able to compare the details already gained here would be interesting.

As was seen in some cases, over a period of years the legislative situation with regard to universities can change significantly. It is likely that similar research, carried out a number of years in the future, would be informative in this regard.

One failing of this research was the difficulty involved in studying a wide range of international jurisdictions, all with subtly different legal conventions and practices, without the availability of expert sources in those jurisdictions. In order to undertake this research in a fully comprehensive manner, this would have to be addressed. Likewise, the matter of translations proved problematic; in many cases, the translations available were of low quality, and in at least one case almost completely useless. The ability to convey subtle legal distinctions through a translation is difficult, but critical; better translations would also greatly assist any future version of this study.

In a limited number of cases, some statistical information on the application of the legislation, drawn from court cases and legal rulings, has been noted. Whilst of only incidental interest here, this does seem to have the potential to become an interesting metric with further study.

# Appendix I – Table of all countries with legislation

In the following list, the most current piece of national-level legislation is given – for example, in Finland, the original legislation was the 1951 Act on Publicity of Official Documents, but the 1999 Act on the Openness of Government Activities superseded it, so the latter is listed. Where legislation has been amended but not superseded, the original date is given; the detailed discussion will mention specific amendments. As with the main discussion, the names of legislation are given in English unless no direct translation is known; as translations are often in the spirit of the original rather than a literal conversion, these may disagree with the names given in other sources.

Where multiple laws are listed, these are equally significant in the nation; where regional laws are significant, these are referred to. As some nations have all their higher education operated at the sub-national level, the legislation mentioned by name may not be the legislation discussed in the main text.

For discussion of a country in the main text, see page references in the table. The nations with both brief summaries and detailed studies have had both page references given.

As with the rest of the document, "Universities covered?" here is limited to public universities. For the unusual cases where private universities are covered to a limited extent, see the discussion. "Unclear" refers to cases where the law was examined and found to be ambiguous; "unknown" refers to cases where no judgement can be made as no copy of the law could be found.

In thirty-nine countries with legislation the law is believed to apply to universities, in one it is known not to, and in nineteen the situation is unclear. In four the applicability varies on a regional basis, and in another four the legislation is so limited as to be effectively irrelevant. In seventeen countries there is some legislation pending, and in five of those it is believed that the legislation would encompass universities.

In the remaining one hundred and nine countries, no legislation is known to exist.

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Afghanistan	None known			
Albania	Law 8503, On the right to information over the official documents	1999	Yes	20
Algeria	None known			
Andorra	None known			
Angola	Access to Administrative Documents Act	Unknown	Unknown	32
Antigua and Barbuda	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Argentina	Freedom of Information Law	Pending	Unknown	39
	also regional legislation			
Armenia	Law on Freedom of Information (not in force)	2003	Believed to be	39
Australia	Freedom of Information Act 1982	1982	Yes, all regions	20
	also regional legislation			
Austria	Auskunftspflichtgesetz	1987	Unknown	32
Azerbaijan	Law on Freedom of Information (currently inactive legislation)	Pending	Believed to be	39
Bahamas	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Bahrain	None known			
Bangladesh	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>195</sup>			
Barbados	No legislation as of 2005; government plans an act by 2008			
Belarus	Constitutional right with no enabling legislation known <sup>196</sup>			
Belgium	Loi du 11 avril 1994 relative à la publicité de l'administration	1994	Unknown	32
	also regional legislation			
Belize	Freedom of Information Act	1994	Yes	22
Benin	None known			
Bhutan	None known			
Bolivia	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>6</sup>			
Bosnia and Herzegovina	Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Republika Srpska	2001	Believed to be	22
	Freedom of Access to Information Act for the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina	2001	Believed to be	

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Botswana	Title not known	Pending	Unknown	40
Brazil	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>6</sup>			
Brunei Darussalam	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Bulgaria	Access to Public Information Act	2000	Yes	22
Burkina Faso	None known			
Burundi	None known			
Cambodia	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>197</sup>			
Canada	Access to Information Act also regional legislation	1985	Dependent on region	37, 49
Cape Verde	None known			
Central African Republic	None known			
Chad	None known			
Chile	Law of Freedom of Opinion and Information and Journalistic Practice	2001	Unclear	33
Colombia	Ley 57 de 1985 Por la cual se ordena la publicidad de los actos y documentos oficiales	1985	Believed to be	22
Comoros	None known			
Costa Rica	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>6</sup>			
Côte d'Ivoire	None known			
Croatia	Act on the Right of Access to Information	2003	Believed to be	23
Cuba	None known			
Cyprus	None known			
Czech Republic	Law on Free Access to Information	1999	Yes	23
Democratic Republic of the Congo	None known			
Denmark	Access to Public Information Files Act	1985	Yes	23
Djibouti	None known			
Dominica	None known			

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Dominican Republic	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>6</sup>			
Ecuador	Transparency and Access to Information Law	2004	Believed to be	23
Egypt	None known			
El Salvador	None known			
Equatorial Guinea	None known			
Eritrea	None known			
Estonia	Public Information Act	2000	Believed to be	23
Ethiopia	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>198</sup>			
Federated States of Micronesia	None known			
Fiji	Freedom of Information Bill 2004	Pending	Believed to be	40
Finland	Act on the Openness of Government Activities	1999	Believed to be	24
France	Law on Access to Administrative Documents	1978	Yes	26
Gabon	None known			
Gambia	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Georgia	Law on Freedom of Information	1999	Believed to be	24
Germany	Federal Freedom of Information Act  also regional legislation	2005	Dependent on region	37
Ghana	Freedom of Information Bill	Pending	Unknown	40
Greece	Code of Administrative Procedure	1999	Unknown	33
Grenada	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Guatemala	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>199</sup>			
Guinea	None known			
Guinea-Bissau	None known			
Guyana	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Haiti	None known			
Honduras	None known			

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Hungary	Act on the Protection of Personal Data and Public Access to Data of Public Interest	1992	Yes	24
Iceland	Information Act	1996	Unknown	34
India	Right to Information Act	2005	Believed to be	25
Indonesia	Title not known	Pending	Unknown	40
Iran	None known			
Iraq	None known			
Ireland	Freedom of Information Act, 1997	1997	Yes	25
Israel	Freedom of Information Law 5758-1998	1998	No	31
Italy	Law No. 251, 7 August 1990	1990	Believed to be	25
Jamaica	Access to Information Act 2002	2002	Yes	25
Japan	Law Concerning Access to Information Held by Administrative Agencies	1999	Unclear	35
Jordan	Law on the Guarantee of Access to Information	Pending	Unknown	41
Kazakhstan	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>159</sup>			
Kenya	Freedom of Information Act	Pending	Unknown	40
Kiribati	None known			
Kuwait	None known			
Kyrgyzstan	Law on Guarantees and Free Access to Information	1997	Unknown	34
Laos	None known			
Latvia	Law on Freedom of Information	1998	Unknown	34
Lebanon	None known			
Lesotho	Access and Receipt of Information Bill	Pending	Unknown	41
Liberia	No legislation as of 2004 <sup>200</sup>			
Libya	None known			
Liechtenstein	Information Act	1999	Believed to be	26
Lithuania	Law on Provision of Information to the Public	1996	Believed to be	27
Luxembourg	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>201</sup>			

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Macedonia	No legislation as of $2005^{202}$			
Madagascar	Constitutional right with no enabling legislation known <sup>203</sup>			
Malawi	Explicit constitutional provision, but no legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Malaysia	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>204</sup>			
Maldives	Title not known	Pending	Unknown	41
Mali	None known			
Malta	Various minor pieces of legislation	Unknown	Inapplicable	44
Marshall Islands	None known			
Mauritania	None known			
Mauritius	No legislation as of $2003^5$			
Mexico	Federal Transparency and Access to Public Government Information Law	2002	Yes	26
Moldova	Law on Access to Information	2000	Believed to be	26
Monaco	Title not known	Pending	Unknown	41
Mongolia	No legislation as of $2005^{205}$			
Morocco	None known			
Mozambique	Freedom of Information Bill	Pending	Unknown	42
Myanmar (Burma)	None known			
Namibia	No legislation as of $2003^5$			
Nauru	Freedom of Information Act 2004	Pending	Believed to be	42
Nepal	None known			
Netherlands	Government Information (Public Access) Act	1991	Unclear	35
New Zealand	Official Information Act 1982	1982	Yes	26
Nicaragua	None known			
Niger	None known			
Nigeria	Freedom of Information Bill	Pending	Unknown	41
North Korea	None known			
Norway	Freedom of Information Act	1970	Believed to be	34

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Oman	None known			
Pakistan	Freedom of Information Ordinance, 2002	2002	Unknown	34
Palau	None known			
Panama	Law on Transparency in Government Bodies	2002	Believed to be	27
Papua New Guinea	Constitutional right with no enabling legislation as of 2005 <sup>206</sup>			
Paraguay	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>99</sup>			
People's Republic of China	Various regional legislation only		Unknown	33
(China)				
Peru	Law of Transparency and Access to Public Information	2002	Believed to be	33
Philippines	Various constitutional provisions		Believed to be	27
Poland	Law on Access to Public Information	2001	Believed to be	27
Portugal	Law of Access to Administrative Documents	1993	Believed to be	33
Qatar	None known			
Republic of China (Taiwan)	No legislation as of 2005 <sup>207</sup>			
Republic of the Congo	None known			
Romania	Law Regarding Free Access to Information of Public Interest	2001	Believed to be	28
Russian Federation	None known			
Rwanda	None known			
Samoa	No legislation as of 2004 <sup>208</sup> .			
San Marino	None known			
São Tomé and Príncipe	None known			
Saudi Arabia	None known			
Senegal	None known			
Serbia and Montenegro	Law on Free Access to Information of Public Importance	2004	Believed to be	37
Seychelles	None known			
Seychelles	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Sierra Leone	None known			

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Singapore	None known			
Slovakia	Act on Free Access to Information	2000	Unclear	35
Slovenia	Act on Access to Information of Public Character	2003	Believed to be	26
Solomon Islands	None known			
Somalia	None known			
South Africa	Promotion of Access to Information Act	2000	Yes	26
South Korea	Act on Disclosure of Information by Public Agencies	1996	Believed to be	29
Spain	Ley 30/1992, de 26 de noviembre, de Régimen Jurídico de las Administraciones Públicas y del Procedimiento Administrativo Común	1992	Yes	26
Sri Lanka	Freedom of Information Act	Pending	Unknown	42
St. Kitts and Nevis	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
St. Lucia	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
St. Vincent and the Grenadines	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Sudan	None known			
Suriname	None known			
Swaziland	None known			
Sweden	Freedom of the Press Act	1949	Yes	29
Switzerland	Loi fédérale sur le principe de la transparence dans l'administration	2004	Unknown	35
Syria	None known			
Tajikistan	Law on Television and Radio Broadcasting	1996	Inapplicable	44
Tanzania	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Thailand	Official Information Act, B.E. 2540 (1997)	1997	Yes	29
Timor-Leste (East Timor)	None known			
Togo	None known			
Tonga	None known			
Trinidad and Tobago	Freedom of Information Act, 1999	1999	Yes	29
Tunisia	None known			

Country	Name of legislation	Year	Universities covered?	Page
Turkey	Law on the Right to Information	2004	Unknown	35
Turkmenistan	No legislation as of 2002 <sup>159</sup>			
Tuvalu	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Uganda	Access to Information Bill, 2004 (Bill No. 7)	Pending	Believed to be	42
Ukraine	Law on Information	1992	Unclear	35
United Arab Emirates	None known			
United Kingdom	Freedom of Information Act 2000	2000	Yes	29, 46
	Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002	2002	Yes	
United States of America	Freedom of Information Act	1966	Dependent on	37, 52,
	also regional legislation		region	77
Uruguay	Exact legislation unclear	Unknown	Unknown	35
Uzbekistan	Law on Principles and Guarantees of Freedom of Information	2003	Unknown	36
Vanuatu	No legislation as of 2003 <sup>5</sup>			
Vatican City	None known			
Venezuela	Organic Law on Administrative Procedures	1981	Unclear	36
Vietnam	None known			
Yemen	Press and Publications Law of 1990	1990	Inapplicable	44
Zambia	No legislation as of 2004 <sup>209</sup>			
Zimbabwe	Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act	2002	Inapplicable	44

# Appendix II – Individual United States jurisdictions

### **Alabama**

In Alabama, the Open Records Act provides the right of access to "any public writing of this state" <sup>210</sup>. It does not define coverage by agency, but it is clear that public universities are subject.

### Alaska

In Alaska, the legislation establishing access to records of public agencies explicitly mentions the University of Alaska, confirming that public universities are subject<sup>211</sup>.

#### **Arizona**

In Arizona, the Open Records Law extends to all public bodies, including any public organisation expending monies provided by the state<sup>212</sup>. This would extend to the public universities; recent news coverage has discussed in the law being used to uncover a scandal at a state university, for example<sup>213</sup>. Potentially, this could be extended to the private universities, at least to the degree by which they receive state support, in a manner similar to the Cornell case in New York.

### **Arkansas**

In Arkansas, the Freedom of Information Act extends to agencies expending public funds<sup>214</sup>. This would extend to the public universities, as confirmed in a 1981 judicial ruling regarding Southern State College (now Southern Arkansas University)<sup>215</sup>. Potentially, this could be extended to the private universities, at least to the degree by which they receive state support, in a manner similar to the Cornell case in New York.

### California

In California, the Public Records Act includes all public agencies<sup>216</sup>. This would extend to the public universities; the University of California provides a full discussion of all the information laws to which they are subject<sup>217</sup>.

### Colorado

In Colorado, the Public Records Act explicitly "includes but is not limited to every state institution of higher education, whether established by the state constitution or by law"<sup>218</sup>.

### Connecticut

In Connecticut, the Connecticut Freedom of Information Act applies to all public agencies<sup>219</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### **Delaware**

In Delaware, the Freedom of Information Act explicitly exempts "the University of Delaware and Delaware State University" from being public bodies. However, the Board of Trustees of each, and documentation regarding the spending of public funds, are considered public<sup>220</sup>. These two universities are the only public universities in the state. In passing, it should be noted that earlier this year, a Federal court ruled that the Delaware Freedom of Information Act was unconstitutional, on the unrelated grounds that it limited public access to only those who were citizens of the state<sup>221</sup>.

### **Florida**

In Florida, the Florida Public Records Act covers "[any] unit of government created or established by law"<sup>222</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

# Georgia

In Georgia, the Open Records Act applies to public agencies<sup>223</sup>, and cites a separate legislative entry, which in addition to the standard definition of "Every state department, agency, ... and authority", includes any private non-profit organisation that receives more than a third of its operating expenses by direct allocation of state funds<sup>224</sup>. This would extend to the public universities, and potentially could be extended to the private universities, at least to the extent by which they receive state support, in a manner similar to the Cornell case in New York. Whilst the private universities are generally exempt, a court recently held that their campus police are not, as they are deputised under state law<sup>225</sup>.

#### Hawaii

In Hawaii, the Uniform Information Practices Act extends to all government agencies<sup>226</sup>. Records of the University of Hawaii, the only public university in the state, are regularly requested; the state Office of Information Practices has issued opinions on 18 cases appealed to it, out of a total of 301 appeals of the Act<sup>227</sup>. It has been held that a corporation created and owned by the university is subject to the Act<sup>228</sup>.

#### Idaho

In Idaho, the Public Records Act provides the right of access to "any public record of the state" defined as one produced by any state agency<sup>230</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### Illinois

In Illinois, the Freedom of Information Act explicitly includes "state universities and colleges" <sup>231</sup>.

### Indiana

In Indiana, the Access to Public Records Act extends to all public agencies<sup>232</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

#### Iowa

In Iowa, the Iowa Public Records Law extends to all government bodies<sup>233</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

#### **Kansas**

In Kansas, the Kansas Open Records Act extends to all public agencies. This would extend to the public universities. It should be noted that the University of Kansas Medical Centre receives a limited, but explicitly codified exemption from disclosure of information that would give an unfair commercial advantage to its competitors<sup>234</sup>. However, this is not significant to the university as a whole.

# **Kentucky**

In Kentucky, the Open Records Act extends to all state agencies<sup>235</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

#### Louisiana

In Louisiana, there is both a legislative right of access and a Constitutional one. The law provides the right of access to documents of public bodies<sup>236</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### Maine

In Maine, the Freedom of Access law applies to all agencies of the state. This would extend to the public universities, whose Boards of Trustees are explicitly mentioned. The law, however, provides a limited exemption for internal working papers and records intended for the faculty and administration of these institutions<sup>237</sup>.

### Maryland

In Maryland, the Public Information Act extends to all "units or instrumentalities of the State government"<sup>238</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### **Massachusetts**

In Massachusetts, the Public Records Law applies to all agencies of the Commonwealth, and all bodies established by statute for a public purpose<sup>239</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### Michigan

In Michigan, public universities are included under the state Freedom of Information Act<sup>240</sup>. A 1997 disclosure of information relating to admissions procedures by the University of Michigan led to a lawsuit by unsuccessful applicants, alleging racial discrimination<sup>4</sup>.

#### Minnesota

In Minnesota, the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act explicitly covers the University of Minnesota as a "state agency" <sup>241</sup>. It would normally have been assumed that the definition covered public universities generally, but the explicit mention of one university renders this unclear; Minnesota contains a number of public universities, and the singling out of one by the legislation renders the status of the others in doubt. There is a general exemption for "educational data" relating to students.

# **Mississippi**

In Mississippi, the Public Records Act extends to "public bodies". This would extend to the public universities. The Boards of Trustees of these institutions are explicitly liable, as confirmed by two 1980s court cases. However, proprietary information developed under contract with a private company is exempt. Additionally, the statute does not extend to non-governmental bodies supported by public funds, unless they are created by statute<sup>242</sup>. This likely precludes the "Cornell interpretation", as per New York.

### **Missouri**

In Missouri, the Sunshine Law explicitly mentions the Curators of the University of Missouri, as well as any other board of governors of a higher education institution "supported in whole or in part from state funds", and any subsidiary committees advising policy, with the exception of the staff of the institution's president<sup>243</sup>. This is distinctly confusing – what parts of a university's administration constitute the president's staff? – but it is nonetheless clear that the public universities are to some extent subject. Potentially, the "in whole or in part" indicates that the New York interpretation may extend to any private institutions part funded by the state. A 1987 opinion by the state Attorney General has held that, in general terms, the Student Government Association of a public university is not subject to the Law, though it may be applicable in certain circumstances<sup>244</sup>.

#### **Montana**

In Montana, the freedom of information legislation extends to all "public writings"<sup>245</sup>, supported by a strong provision in the Constitution of the right to examine public documents save where privacy concerns are paramount<sup>246</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### Nebraska

In Nebraska, the public records legislation extends to all "public records". Universities are not explicitly mentioned, though it is noted in the annotated statutes that unpublished academic or scientific work in progress is exempt and may, if so chosen, be kept confidential<sup>247</sup>. This legislation would extend to the public universities.

#### Nevada

In Nevada, the public records legislation extends to all "public books and public records of a governmental entity"<sup>248</sup>, where a governmental entity encompasses "university foundations". The definition given for the latter is that it is non-profit, charitable and "organized and operated exclusively for the purpose of supporting a university or a community college"<sup>249</sup>; this suggests that non-profit private universities in the state may potentially be covered, though the intent of the law would seem to preclude this. There is an absolute exemption for information that would tend to disclose the identity of any donor to the institution.

# **New Hampshire**

In New Hampshire, the Right-to-Know Law extends to the "Board of Trustees of the University System of New Hampshire", and advisory entities set up by this board<sup>250</sup>. This system appears to cover all public universities in the state<sup>251</sup>.

### **New Jersey**

In New Jersey, the Open Public Records Act covers the state universities and colleges. It does not, generally, cover private not-for-profit organisations<sup>252</sup>. There are a number of exceptions specific to a state educational institution, stipulating that the specific details of research are not considered as a government document, nor are such things as individual application records or – unusually – specific rare-document collections if they were donated with the intent of limited public access<sup>253</sup>.

### **New Mexico**

In New Mexico, the Inspection of Public Records Act applies explicitly to (public) "institutions of higher education". There is a specific exemption involving the identities of applicants for the position of president of a public institution of higher education<sup>254</sup>.

### **New York**

In New York, the Freedom of Information Law extends to all governmental entities "performing a governmental or proprietary function for the state"<sup>255</sup>. This legislation would appear to extend to the public universities, but not private institutions. The

University of the State of New York\* manages all university education, public and private, in the state, though despite the name this organisation is not strictly a university per se and this should not be taken to imply that the private universities are part of the state system<sup>256</sup>. However, a court case ruled that Cornell University, a private institution, was subject to the Law to the extent that it operates public colleges for the state<sup>257</sup>; for historical reasons, Cornell University operates three publicly funded colleges.

### **North Carolina**

In North Carolina, the Public Records Law extends to any agency of the state government<sup>258</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

#### **North Dakota**

In North Dakota, the open records legislation extends to any public or governmental bodies of the state<sup>259</sup>. This would extend to the public universities. It also encompasses "organizations or agencies supported in whole or in part by public funds, or expending public funds". Potentially, this could be extended to the private universities, at least to the degree by which they receive state support, in a manner similar to the Cornell case in New York. There are explicit exemptions for details of university donors, and users of the university health services. In the past seven years, the timeframe for which the Attorney-General's opinion letters are available, only one of around 140<sup>260</sup> has dealt with a public university; a dispute over fees<sup>261</sup>. It can be thus surmised that the application of this legislation to the universities has been reasonably smooth, though it may simply indicate a low level of use either of the legislation or of the advisory system.

### Ohio

In Ohio, the Public Records Act applies to all documents produced by public offices. This would extend to the public universities. An exemption applies for unpublished documents involved in the study of "educational, commercial, scientific, artistic, technical, or scholarly issue[s]" at a university, so long as they are not also financial or administrative records, and for records relating to personal information about donors. The Act has been heavily litigated, and several pieces of case law used as exemplars involve universities<sup>262</sup>.

<sup>\*</sup> Not to be confused with the public State University of New York, or the private New York University.

### Oklahoma

In Oklahoma, the Public Records Act covers all public bodies<sup>263</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

# Oregon

In Oregon, the Public Records Law covers all public bodies. This would extend to the public universities. There is an explicit exemption for "sensitive business records, financial or commercial information" of the Oregon Health and Sciences University, along with any material relating to candidates for the president of that institution. There is also a general exemption for "writings prepared by or under the direction of faculty of public educational institutions, in connection with research, until publicly released, copyrighted or patented"<sup>264</sup>. Of 222 "significant" Public Records Orders published by the state Attorney General, 20 related to public universities\*<sup>265</sup>.

# **Pennsylvania**

In Pennsylvania, the Right To Know Law encompasses all Commonwealth agencies, explicitly including "any political subdivision of … the State System of Higher Education"<sup>266</sup>.

### **Rhode Island**

In Rhode Island, the access to public records legislation covers all public agencies<sup>267</sup>. This would extend to the public universities.

### **South Carolina**

In South Carolina, the Freedom of Information Act covers all public bodies<sup>268</sup>. This would extend to the public universities. There are statutory exemptions for certain university donor records, and for unpublished research information.

### **South Dakota**

In South Dakota, the basic freedom of information legislation simply requires that public servants maintain the record or document for viewing by the public<sup>269</sup>. It is likely that this

<sup>\*</sup> Note, however, that these 20 involve some duplication, due to the way the list is laid out, and there are only 12 unique orders; if this duplication is representative, it is probably closer to 12 of 150 PROs.

extends to public universities, but the lack of definitions renders this unclear. However, many other such pieces of legislation exist, scattered through the state code<sup>270</sup>, one of which provides for access to documents of the Board of Regents of public universities, and institutions under their control. However, this is strictly prescriptive; only documents that fall into specified classes are "records"<sup>271</sup>.

#### Tennessee

In Tennessee, the Public Records Act covers all public bodies<sup>272</sup>. This would extend to the public universities. There are statutory exemptions for "trade secrets, patentable information, and commercial or financial information used in research" at universities and for student records, as well as specific exemptions relating to material about illegal practices received by the auditors of the University of Tennessee, or any proprietary information submitted to a certain database held by Middle Tennessee State University. The statute only extends the right of access to citizens of Tennessee.

#### **Texas**

In Texas, the Public Information Act covers all governmental bodies. This would extend to the public universities. It applies an exemption for the names of applicants for the position of chief executive officer of an institution of higher education, or any information that would tend to disclose the identity of a donor to such an institution. Educational records, and working papers of auditors, are also exempt<sup>273</sup>.

#### Utah

In Utah, the Government Records Access and Management Act explicitly covers "any state-funded institution of higher education or public education" There are exceptions for certain privately sponsored research information, codified by different legislation. Documents of a higher education institution regarding tenure discussions, appointments, applications and the like are classed as "protected", as is personal information relating to donors to a higher education institution, and unpublished "lecture notes, research notes and data, manuscripts, creative works in process, scholarly correspondence, and confidential information contained in research proposals". From October 1992 to date, the State Records Committee has published rulings on 133 appeals<sup>275</sup>. Of these, 13 have related to a public university; one of the thirteen related to a student body election<sup>276</sup>.

#### Vermont

In Vermont, the Public Records Act covers all public agencies. This would extend to the public universities. There is an explicit exemption for unpublished research information at "the University of Vermont or the Vermont state colleges", which are the only public universities of the state, and for student records except where disclosure is required under Federal law<sup>277</sup>. A recent state Supreme Court ruling held that "student records" was to be interpreted broadly, applying to personal disciplinary records as much as to academic ones<sup>278</sup>. Interestingly, a 1987 case explicitly ruled on the matter of the public universities, holding that since there were exceptions provided in the law that applied to the University of Vermont, it must therefore be considered an "agency" by the law<sup>279</sup>.

# Virginia

In Virginia, the Freedom of Information Act extends to all public bodies, explicitly including "boards of visitors of public institutions of higher education". It also encompasses organisations "supported wholly or principally by public funds", allowing the possibility of a Cornell-like ruling<sup>280</sup>. There are explicit exemptions for "proprietary, business-related information pertaining to the operations of the University of Virginia Medical Center or Eastern Virginia Medical School", and for "scholastic records containing information concerning identifiable individuals". The statute only extends the right of access to citizens of Virginia. The Virginia Freedom of Information Advisory Council has issued a small number of advisory opinions\* regarding universities, of which one held that the student government at a state university was a body subject to the Act<sup>281</sup>, and another noted that it was not automatically a subset of the University<sup>282</sup>.

# Washington

In Washington, the Public Records Act includes all "agencies"<sup>283</sup>. It can be assumed this would apply to the public universities, confirmed by the existence of an exception for donor records at universities<sup>284</sup>. The Attorney General does not appear to have issued any rulings on universities under the Act, though at least one significant<sup>†</sup> court case under this legislation involved the University of Washington<sup>285</sup>.

<sup>\*</sup> Records for 2000-2005 are available, and eight of 154 records involve state universities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> *Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. University of Washington* (1990). The case is significant enough that the Attorney General's handbook on the Act cites it no less than four times on a single page as setting legal precedents.

# **West Virginia**

In West Virginia, the Freedom of Information Act applies to all public bodies. This would extend to the public universities. It also encompasses "any other body which is created by state or local authority or which is primarily funded by the state or local authority", allowing the possibility of a Cornell-like ruling<sup>286</sup>.

### Wisconsin

In Wisconsin, the Open Records Law explicitly extends to the "University of Wisconsin System... and any technical college district". The "associate and assistant vice presidents of the University of Wisconsin System" are also explicitly defined as state public officers<sup>287</sup>. The University of Wisconsin system encompasses all state universities. Two of 67 cases decided by the state Supreme Court or appeals courts dealt with universities as respondents<sup>288</sup>.

# **Wyoming**

In Wyoming, the Public Records Act extends to all agencies of the state. This would extend to the public universities. It provides certain specific regulations for a database maintained by the University of Wyoming, but otherwise no exceptions relating to higher educational institutions are noted<sup>289</sup>. Only one formal opinion relating to the Act has been published by the state Attorney General, making it difficult to establish to what degree it has been contentious<sup>290</sup>. This opinion did not relate to the state university system.

### **Federal Universities**

Whilst no "conventional" universities are operated under the aegis of the federal government, there are a small number of (predominantly military) universities maintained by government departments, such as the U.S. Naval College at Annapolis. These institutions are subject to the federal Act.

### **Tribal Jurisdictions**

The Tribal Colleges and Universities, four of which offer three-year degrees and can be considered universities, pose a further interesting issue. Whilst "public universities", they are not part of the state educational system, being chartered by the Native American nations (and largely funded by federal monies); this places them largely outside both sets

of legal frameworks<sup>291</sup>. It is unclear to what degree these institutions are subject to the legislation; in most states, only public bodies are subject to the legislation, with that defined in such a way as to exclude bodies which are a part of a separate governmental entity.

### **District of Columbia**

In the District of Columbia, the right of access extends to all public bodies. This would include the one public university of the District<sup>292</sup>. No university-specific exemptions seem to exist.

# **Territories and possessions**

The Federal act explicitly does not extend to the territories and possessions of the US. Of these territories and possessions, Guam contains a public university, as do the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands, and Puerto Rico.

The Virgin Islands Open Records Act applies to all "branches of government"<sup>293</sup>; there is an exception for student records. Guam has the Sunshine Reform Act of 1999, which covers all government agencies. It contains a set of explicit exemptions for the University of Guam, covering applicant records, donor records, and a specific set of archives of the RFT Micronesian Area Research Center, on request of the donor that they be closed<sup>294</sup>.

The Northern Mariana Islands appear to have some form of freedom of information legislation, as news stories repeatedly refer to "an open records request approved by the island government"<sup>295</sup>, but the actual legislation has not been found and thus no conclusions can be drawn; it is possible that this is a misreporting of a Federal-level request in which the island government was involved. Puerto Rico currently has no freedom of information legislation, and the government is reportedly strongly obstructionist over disclosure<sup>6</sup>.

### References

<sup>2</sup> FORSYTH, I. 1998 FOI/POP Statistics. 1998. [WWW]

October 2005) (Online archive; as available on 19<sup>th</sup> October 2004)

```
<sup>3</sup> FORSYTH, I. Spirit and Intent: Universities and Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy -
the B.C. Case, 1996. Archives Association of British Columbia Newsletter, Fall 1996, vol.4 no.6
<sup>4</sup> FRANKEL, M. Freedom of Information and Universities, 1998. [WWW]
http://www.cfoi.org.uk/universities.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
 DARUWLA, M., ed. Open Sesame: Looking for the Right to Information in the Commonwealth
[WWW] http://www.humanrightsinitiative.org/publications/chogm/chogm 2003/default.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>6</sup> SUOMINEN, K. Access to Information in Latin America and the Caribbean [WWW]
http://www.juridicas.unam.mx/publica/librev/rev/comlawj/cont/2/arc/arc2.pdf (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
^{7} Albanian Constitution – Part Two – Fundamental Human Rights and Freedoms. 1999.
http://www.ipls.org/services/kusht/cp2.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>8</sup> Law 8503, On the right to information over the official documents. 1999. [WWW]
http://www.ijnet.org/FE Article/MEdiaLaw.asp?CID=25165&UILang=1&CIdLang=1 (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
<sup>9</sup> Freedom of Information Act 1982. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/cth/consol_act/foia1982222/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Australia's universities create, preserve & transmit knowledge. [WWW]
http://www.avcc.edu.au/universities/overview.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) 

11 Freedom of Information Act 1992. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.slp.wa.gov.au/statutes/swans.nsf/html/agency+foi+acts?opendocument (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>12</sup> Freedom of Information Act 1989. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/nsw/consol_act/foia1989222/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  Freedom of Information Act 1989, 2005. [WWW]
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/vic/consol_act/foia1982222/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
14 Freedom of Information Regulations 1998. 2001. [WWW]
http://www.dms.dpc.vic.gov.au/Domino/Web Notes/LDMS/PubLawToday.nsf/7e27929611f1d5c2ca2
56dac00186f32/4cb8381c529c19a8ca256f0b00070c43/$FILE/98-41sr002.pdf (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>15</sup> BUCKRIDGE, C. Media Release. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.muprivate.edu.au/fileadmin/Communications/MU_Private_merger_MR.doc (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
<sup>16</sup> ANON. State Records of South Australia - Freedom of Information. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.archives.sa.gov.au/foi/index.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>17</sup> Freedom of Information Act 1992. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/qld/consol act/foia1992222/index.html (Accessed on 15th October
2005)
<sup>18</sup> ALBIETZ, F.N. Decision No. 97014 [WWW]
http://www.infocomm.qld.gov.au/indexed/decisions/html/97014.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  Freedom of Information Act 1991. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.austlii.edu.au/au/legis/tas/consol_act/foia1991222/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>20</sup> EGAN, E.J. Administrative Arrangements Order. 2005 [WWW]
http://notes.nt.gov.au/dcm/legislat/legislat.nsf/d989974724db65b1482561cf0017cbd2/f5709a8bde5c02
7769256b0300836afb?OpenDocument (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>21</sup> Freedom of Information Act. Chapter 13. 2000. [WWW]
http://www.belizelaw.org/lawadmin/PDF%20files/cap013.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  University of Belize Act. Chapter 37. 2000. [WWW]
http://www.belizelaw.org/lawadmin/PDF%20files/cap037.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
```

<sup>1</sup> BANISAR, D. Freedom of Information and Access to Government Records Around the World. 2004 [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/survey/global\_survey2004.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

http://web.archive.org/web/20041019214318/www.sfu.ca/archives/foi-stats98.html (Accessed on 15th

```
<sup>23</sup> OCAHETA. E. About the University. 2005. [WWW] http://www.galen.edu.bz/aboutus.asp (Accessed
on 15th October 2005)
```

<sup>24</sup> ANON. Final Report of the Political Reform Commission. 2000. [WWW]

http://www.belize.gov.bz/library/political\_reform/p16.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

- Freedom Of Access To Information Act For The Republika Srpska. 2001. [WWW] http://www.ohr.int/ohr-dept/media-d/med-recon/freedom/default.asp?content\_id=7270 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>26</sup> Freedom Of Access To Information Act For The Federation Of Bosnia and Herzegovina. 2001. [WWW] http://www.ohr.int/ohr-dept/media-d/med-recon/freedom/default.asp?content\_id=7269 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- OECD. Thematic Review of Education Policy of Bosnia Herzegovina. 2003. [WWW] http://devdata.worldbank.org/edstats/RegionalIndicators/SEE/Bosnia Herzegovina.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>28</sup> Access to Public Information Act. 2002. [WWW] <a href="http://www.aip-bg.org/library/laws/apia.htm">http://www.aip-bg.org/library/laws/apia.htm</a> (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>29</sup> STEFANOVA, M. How to apply the Access to Public Information Act. 2001. [WWW] http://www.aip-bg.org/library/books/man\_admin.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- Ley 57 de 1985 (julio 5) por la cual se ordena la publicidad de los actos y documentos oficiales. 2005. [WWW]
- http://www.justiceinitiative.org/db/resource2/fs/?file\_id=15192&rand=0.0746856694985 (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in Spanish]
- <sup>31</sup> Law on the Right to Access Information. 2005. [WWW] http://www.gradjani-imaju-pravoznati.hho.hr/en/lotrtainformation.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- ANON. Ministarstvo znanosti, obrazovania i športa Establishment of Universities, 2005. [WWW] http://www.mzos.hr/default.asp?ru=700&sid=&akcija=&jezik=2 (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Act No. 106/1999 Coll. on Free Access to Information. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.otevrete.cz/index.php?id=147&akce=clanek (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

- <sup>34</sup> CLARK, N. Czech Republic. 2004. [WWW] http://www.wes.org/ewenr/04Jan/CzechRepublic.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>35</sup> KUŽÍLEK, O. Another 106 Answers to your Questions (With Judgements). 2005. [WWW] http://www.otevrete.cz/files//copyofdocuments/Handbook for citizens.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>36</sup> The Danish Access to Public Administration Files Act, Act No. 572, 19 December 1985. 2001. [WWW] http://www.justiceinitiative.org/db/resource2/fs/?file\_id=15198&rand=0.6085227556 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- KLOCH, M., ed. University Education in Denmark. 2001. [WWW] http://www.rks.dk/sider/publikationer/english/uni-edu-den.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Annual reports for 2001, 2002, 2003 available through:
- ANON. Summary of Annual reports. 2003. [WWW] http://www.ombudsmanden.dk/aarsberetning\_en/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>39</sup> OSORIO, C. and COSTAR, K. Ecuador Enacts 'Transparency and Access to Information Law'. 2004 [WWW] http://www.privacvinternational.org/article.shtml?cmd[347]=x-347-62469&als[theme]=Freedom%20of%20Information (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- 40 Public Information Act. 2005. [WWW] http://www.esis.ee/ist2004/106.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>41</sup> ANON. System of Education. 2002. [WWW] http://www.einst.ee/factsheets/factsheets\_uus\_kuju/system\_of\_education.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>42</sup> Act on the Openness of Government Activities. 1999. [WWW] http://www.om.fi/1184.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- <sup>43</sup> LIND, L. University education. 2002. [WWW]
- http://www.edu.fi/english/page.asp?path=500,4699,4836,4837 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

  44 ACT No. 78-753 of 17 July 1978. On various measures for improved relations between the Civil. Service and the public and on various arrangements of administrative, social and fiscal nature (excerpt). 2000. [WWW] http://www.cada.fr/uk/center2.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
- 18 rulings listed by searching for "université" as a keyword ("mots dans le texte") on: ANON. Sélection d'avis et conseils. 2005. [WWW] http://www.cada.fr/fr/conseils/center.cfm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: these documents in French]

Act No LXIII of 1992 on Protection of Personal Data and Disclosure of Data of Public Interest. 1999. [WWW] http://abiweb.obh.hu/adatved/indexek/AVTV-EN.htm (Accessed on 15th October <sup>48</sup> CLARK, N. *Hungary*. 2004. [WWW] <a href="http://www.wes.org/ewenr/04Jan/Hungary.htm">http://www.wes.org/ewenr/04Jan/Hungary.htm</a> (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>49</sup> MAJTÉNYI, L. Commissioner's Report, 1998. 1998. [WWW] http://abiweb.obh.hu/adatved/indexek/1998/tartalom.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>50</sup> MAJTÉNYI, L. Commissioner's Report, 2000. 2000. [WWW] http://abiweb.obh.hu/adatved/indexek/2000/cont.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) 51 Right to Information Act, 2005. 2005. [WWW] http://persmin.nic.in/RTI/WebActRTI.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>52</sup> VARIOUS. "Education in India," Wikipedia. 2005. <a href="http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Education\_in\_India">http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Education\_in\_India</a> (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>53</sup> Freedom of Information Act, 1997. 1997. [WWW] http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/1997 13.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>54</sup> MCDONAGH, M. Freedom of Information in Ireland – Five Years On. 2003. [WWW]. http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/ireland/ireland.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Freedom of Information Act, 1997 (Prescribed Bodies) (No. 4) Regulations, 2001. (Statutory Instrument no. 475 of 2001) 2001. [WWW] http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/ZZSI475Y2001.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

56 Law No. 241 of 7 August 1990. Chapter V. Access to administrative documents. 1999. [WWW] http://www.governo.it/Presidenza/DICA/documentazione\_accesso/normativa/legge241\_1990\_eng.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Decree of the President of the Republic No. 352, 27 June 1992. 1999. [WWW] http://www.governo.it/Presidenza/DICA/documentazione accesso/normativa/dpr352 1992 eng.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Access to Information Act, 2002. 2003. [WWW] http://www.jis.gov.jm/special\_sections/ATI/ATIACT.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) ANON. What does the Act cover? 2005. [WWW] http://www.jard.gov.jm/ati/index.php?option=com content&task=view&id=36&Itemid=40 (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>60</sup> CAMFIELD, J., et. al. *Public tertiary institutions*. 2003. [WWW] http://moec.gov.jm/divisions/ed/tertiary/institutions.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>61</sup> Law on the provision of information to the public. 2 July 1996 No.I-1418. 2000. [WWW] http://www3.lrs.lt/c-bin/eng/preps2?Condition1=101596&Condition2= (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>62</sup> Federal Transparency and Access to Government Information Law. 2002. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/mexico1/laweng.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) 63 DOYLE, K. In Mexico, a New Law Guarantees the Right to Know. 2002. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/mexico1.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>64</sup> The Law on Access to Information, 2001. [WWW] http://ijc.md/stuff/access\_law.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>65</sup> ANON. Official Information Act 1982 – Legal Information. 2005. [WWW] http://www.auckland.ac.nz/uoa/legal/oia.cfm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)  $^{66}$  Act of 19 June 1970 No. 69 relating to public access to documents in the public administration as subsequently amended, most recently by Act of 20 June 2003 No. 45. 2003. [WWW] http://www.ub.uio.no/ujur/ulovdata/lov-19700619-069-eng.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>67</sup> Ley No 27806, Ley de Transparecnia y Acceso a la Informatión Pública. 2002. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/news/peru2/finalfoia.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in Spanish] <sup>68</sup> CHUA, Y.T. The Philippines: A Liberal Information Regime even without an Information Law. 2003. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/case/phil1.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>69</sup> Law on Access to Public Information. 2001. [WWW] http://www.ijnet.org/FE Article/MEdiaLaw.asp?CID=25272&UILang=1&CIdLang=1 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>46</sup> The General Administrative Code of Georgia. 2001. [WWW]

http://www.iris.ge/docs/translations/code\_admin\_general.doc (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

```
Access to Public Information Act. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.dostopdoinformacij.si/index.php?id=253 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
73 ANON. State and Public institutions on the Web. 2004. [WWW] http://www.sigov.si/cvi-mi-a.html
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
^{\hat{7}4} Ley 30/1992, de 26 de noviembre, de Régimen Jurídico de las Administraciones Públicas y del
Procedimiento Administrativo Común. 2005. [WWW] http://www.igsap.map.es/cia/dispo/6.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in Spanish]

75 Act No. 2 of 2000: Promotion of Access to Information Act 2000. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.info.gov.za/gazette/acts/2000/a2-00.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

REID, D. The Guide on how to use the Promotion of Access to Information Act - Part 6 - Public
Bodies from whom you can Access Records. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.sahrc.org.za/sahrc_cms/downloads/PAIA%20GUIDE%20contact.pdf (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>77</sup> ANON. Private higher education in South Africa. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.studysa.co.za/studysa2.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  Act on Disclosure of Information by Public Agencies. Act No. 5242, Dec. 31. 1996. 2000. [WWW]
http://www.ti-bangladesh.org/BP PDFfiles/Access to information/980258118 korea.doc (Accessed
on 15th October 2005)
<sup>79</sup> Framework Act on the Management of Government-Invested Institutions. 2001. [WWW]
http://www.mpb.go.kr/servlet/download?attachFileName=law9.doc&displayName=law9.doc&menuFl
ag=E320 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

**The Freedom of the Press Act. SFS nr: 1949:105. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.riksdagen.se/templates/R Page 6313.aspx (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>81</sup> ANON. Public Access to Information and Secrecy with Swedish Authorities. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.sweden.gov.se/content/1/c6/03/68/28/b8e73d81.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>82</sup> AROVELIUS, R. To secure scientific records for the future. A quality issue for the university.
Initiatives for handling and preservation of records of science at the Swedish University for
Agricultural Sciences (SLU). 2003. [WWW] http://www.bath.ac.uk/ncuacs/FP_Arovelius.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>83</sup> AROVELIUS, R. Query on conference report, 2005. [Email] Personal email to Gray, A. (12th
October 2005)
84 VARIOUS. "Christopher Gillberg," Wikipedia. 2005.
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Christopher Gillberg (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  Official Information Act, B.E. 2540 (1997). 2003. [WWW]
http://www.krisdika.go.th/lawHtmStaticContent01.jsp?frm=tmp&page=eng&lawType=law2&lawCode
=%a203&lawID=%a203-20-2540-001 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
86 SERIAK, N. Challenges of Thailand's Freedom of Information. 2001. [WWW] http://www.foi-
asia.org/Thailand/NSreport.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
 SEDGWICK, R. Education in Thailand, 2005, [WWW]
http://www.wes.org/ewenr/05mar/practical.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  The Freedom of Information Act, 1999. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.foia.gov.tt/downloads/FOIA1999.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  ANON. Public Authority Details. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.foia.gov.tt/about/publicauthority_details.asp?did=238 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>90</sup> Freedom of Information Law 5758-1998. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.police.gov.il/english/Information Services/Law/xx 5759 1998.asp (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
91 YOAZ, Y. We are all still in the dark. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.haaretz.com/hasen/pages/ShArt.jhtml?itemNo=585620&contrassID=2&subContrassID=4
&sbSubContrassID=0&listSrc=Y (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  ANON. The Higher Education System in Israel. 2005. [WWW] http://www.che.org.il/eng.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
```

<sup>70</sup> Lei de Acesso aos Documentos Administrativos. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.cada.pt/PAGINAS/ladaing.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

1 Law on the Free Access to the Information of Public Interest. 2001. [WWW]

http://www.nobribes.org/Documents/Romania FOIAct 2001.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>93</sup> ANON. MISA to host first ever workshop on Access to Information in Angola. 2005. [WWW] http://www.misa.org/cgi-bin/viewnews.cgi?category=1&id=1127376205 (Accessed on 15th October

<sup>94</sup> SOUSA, G. and BRYCE, B-A. 2002 African Laws. 2003. [WWW] http://www.abanet.org/intlaw/hubs/publications/2002AfricanLaws.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

95 VARIOUS. "Education in Austria," Wikipedia. http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Education in Austria (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>96</sup> The Constitution – Title II – On Belgians and their Rights. 2005. [WWW] http://www.fedparl.be/gwuk0002.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

11 Avril 1994. Loi relative à la publicité de l'administration. 2003. [WWW] http://www.privacyinternational.org/countries/belgium/loi-publicite.rtf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in French]

98 ANON. Belgium's French Community. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.cfwb.be/gb/presentation/communaute/pg001.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Inter-American Press Association Midyear Meeting 2005 Resolution. 2005. [WWW] http://www.sipiapa.org/pulications/access2005.cfm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Toole on Access to Information. 2004. [WWW] http://www.info.gov.hk/access/code.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>101</sup> ANON. Higher Education Institutions in the HKSAR with Powers to award Bachelor, Master and Doctorate Degrees. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.emb.gov.hk/FileManager/EN/Content 2522/mou annex2(e).pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>102</sup> ANON. Code on Access to Information Guidelines for Departments. 2004. [WWW] http://www.info.gov.hk/access/guide.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Guangzhou Municipal Provisions on Open Government Information (Decree No. 8 of the Guangzhou Municipal People's Government dated November 6, 2002). 2003. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/news/guangzhou/provisions.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

HORSLEY, J.P. Shanghai Advances the Cause of Open Government Information in China. 2004.

[WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/news/shanghai/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>105</sup> Law No. 2690. Ratification of the Administrative Procedure Code and other provisions. 2002. [WWW] http://www.gspa.gr/inetdhes/EUP/procedure\_code.doc (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>106</sup> Information Act. No. 50/1996 http://user.uni-frankfurt.de/~sobotta/Enskthyd.doc (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>107</sup> Law Concerning Access to Information Held by Administrative Organs. 2003. [WWW] http://www.soumu.go.jp/gyoukan/kanri/translation4.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>08</sup> The National Government Organization Law. (Law No.120 of 1948, as Amended). 2005. [WWW] http://www.kantei.go.jp/foreign/constitution and government/the national government low.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>109</sup> Bishkek December 5, 1997, #89. The Law of the Krygyz Republic On guarantees and free access to information. 2002. [WWW] http://www.libertas-institut.com/de/Mittel-Osteuropa/Law%20on%20Guarantees%20and%20Free%20Access%20to%20Information.pdf

(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

110 Latvia Freedom of Information Law. 2002. [WWW]

http://www.nobribes.org/Documents/Latvia FOILaw.doc (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Act of 31 October 1991, containing regulations governing public access to government information. 2005. [WWW] http://www.justiceinitiative.org/db/resource2/fs/?file\_id=15223&rand=0.47182854816

(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

112 An Ordinance To provide for transparency and freedom of information. 2002. [WWW] http://www.infopak.gov.pk/public/govt/freedom of info ord.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) VARIOUS. "University of Karachi," Wikipedia. 2005

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/University\_of\_Karachi (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

114 211/2000 Z.z. Act on Free Access to Information and Amendments of Certain Acts (The Freedom of Information Act) 2002. [WWW] http://www.info211.sk/zakon\_en.php (Accessed on 15th October

115 KAMENEC, T., et. al. Act on Free Access to Information - A Practical Handbook for Public Administration Officials and Local Self-Government Officials. 2000. [WWW]

```
http://www.nobribes.org/Documents/Slovakia AccessInfoHandbook.doc (Accessed on 15th October
```

- <sup>116</sup> Loi fédérale sur le principe de la transparence dans l'administration (Loi sur la transparence, LTrans) du 17 décembre 2004. 2004. [WWW] http://www.admin.ch/ch/f/ff/2004/6807.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in French]
- <sup>117</sup> Turkish Law on the Right to Information, Law No. 4982. 2004. [WWW]

http://web.archive.org/web/20040520045006/http://www.bilgilenmehakki.org/pagesEN/4982.php

(Accessed on 15th October 2005) (Online archive; as available on 20<sup>th</sup> May 2004)

<sup>118</sup> The Law of Ukraine on Information. 2003. [WWW]

http://www.elaw.org/resources/text.asp?ID=1479 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. PHR2004 - The Republic of Uruguay. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.privacvinternational.org/article.shtml?cmd%5B347%5D=x-347-83784 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>120</sup> Lev No 16.736. 2001. [WWW] http://www.parlamento.gub.uy/Leyes/ley16736.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

121 Закон - Республики Узбекистан – "О принципах и гарантиях свободы информации". 2002. [WWW] http://www.medialaw.ru/exussrlaw/l/uz/dostup.htm (Russian) (Accessed on 15th October 2005) [NB: this document in Russian]

<sup>122</sup> Law of the Republic of Uzbekistan "On guarantees and freedom of access to information". 1997. [WWW] http://foi.missouri.edu/internationalfoi/uzbekguarantees.html (Accessed on 15th October

<sup>123</sup> COUTSOUKIS, P. Uzbekistan Education System. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.photius.com/countries/uzbekistan/society/uzbekistan society education system.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>124</sup> ANON. Habeas data and the right of access to information. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.cidh.org/Relatoria/showarticle.asp?artID=572&IID=1 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Access to Information Act. An Act to extend the present laws of Canada that provide access to information under the control of the Government of Canada. 2004. [WWW] http://laws.justice.gc.ca/en/a-1/8.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>126</sup> ANON. About the Council of Ministers of Education, Canada. 2005. [WWW] http://www.cmec.ca/abouteng.stm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Draft of an Act to Regulate Access to German Federal Government Information (Freedom of *Information Act – FOIA*). 2005. [WWW]

http://www.informationsfreiheit.info/files/foia germany final june05 clear.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>128</sup> ANON. Freedom of Information in the German States. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.freedominfo.org/news/germany/20050629.htm#states (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Law for the Promotion of Freedom of Information in the State of Berlin. (Berlin Freedom of

Information Act- IFG). 2001. [WWW] http://www.freedom-of-

information.de/info berlin/acts/ifg 01 en.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Inspection-of-Records and Access-to-Information Act. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.lda.brandenburg.de/sixcms/media.php/2232/aig e.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

131 Law on Free Access to Information of Public Importance. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.privacyinternational.org/countries/serbia/serbia-foi-law-2004.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Argentina. 2005. [WWW] http://www.sipiapa.org/pulications/report\_argentina2005.cfm

(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

133 FARMELO, M. Teaching Institute or Dance Bar? Putting Local Freedom of Information Legislation to Use in Argentina. 2005. [WWW] http://www.freedominfo.org/case/seventies/index.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

134 Law of the Republic of Armenia on Freedom of Information. 2003. [WWW]

http://www.forum.am/groups/A2I/mat/2.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

135 SMOLINA, I. *Under Lock and Key: Freedom of Information and the Media in Armenia, Azerbaijan* and Georgia. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/article19/FOI and Media in the South Caucasus English.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

```
<sup>136</sup> VAN SCHAGEN, J. Written analysis of two alternative Azerbaijani draft laws on Freedom of
information, 2004. [WWW] http://www.osce.org/documents/rfm/2004/09/3583 en.pdf (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
```

<sup>137</sup> CATTERALL, J.S., and MCGHEE, R. The Emergence of Private Postsecondary Education in the Former Soviet Republic of Azerbaijan. 1996. [WWW]

http://www.bc.edu/bc\_org/avp/soe/cihe/newsletter/News05/text2.html (Accessed on 15th October

<sup>138</sup> MUKUMBIRA, R. Uproar over draconian Media Bill. 2003. [WWW] http://www.newsfromafrica.org/newsfromafrica/articles/art 1558.html (Accessed on 15th October

139 Constitution of Fiji. 2000. [WWW] http://www.oefre.unibe.ch/law/icl/fj00000\_.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>140</sup> ANON. Government to enact Freedom of Information Bill. 2000. [WWW] http://www.ifex.org/fr/content/view/full/26050/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

141 YABAKI, A. A Freedom of Information Law for Fiji: Discussion Paper and Draft Bill. 2004. [WWW] <a href="http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/fiji/fiji">http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/fiji/fiji</a> foia paper.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>142</sup> Freedom of Information Bill 2004. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.freedominfo.org/reports/fiji/fiji\_foia\_bill.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ESSIAM, M. Freedom of Information is Non-Negotiable. 2005. [WWW] http://allafrica.com/stories/200510100241.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Freedom of Info Bill hangs in balance. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.pmw.c2o.org/2005/indon4760.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Middle East. 2005. [WWW] http://www.article19.org/work/regions/middle-east/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>146</sup> AMOLLO, O. ICJ Kenya's Press Statement on the Draft Freedom of Information Act 2005. 2005. [WWW] <a href="http://www.icj-kenya.org/news.asp?ID=38">http://www.icj-kenya.org/news.asp?ID=38</a> (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>147</sup> ANON. *ICT Policy early in 2004*. 2003. [WWW]

http://www.lesotho.gov.ls/articles/2003/ICT Policy Early 2004.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) DAILY, H. *Maldives to have Freedom of Information Act.* 2004. [WWW]

http://foi.missouri.edu/internatfoinews/maldives.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Freedom of information is the weapon against corruption. 2005. [WWW] http://www.dhivehiobserver.com/reports/CHRI-270920051.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

SLUTSKY, L. Doc. 10128. The Principality of Monaco's application for membership of the Council of Europe. 2004. [WWW]

http://assembly.coe.int/Documents/WorkingDocs/doc04/EDOC10128.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>151</sup> Opinion no. 250 (2004). The Principality of Monaco's application for membership of the Council of Europe. 2004. [WWW] http://assembly.coe.int/Documents/AdoptedText/TA04/EOPI250.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

152 ANON. Journalists welcome draft Information Bill. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=48412 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

153 BARKER, X. Query on freedom of information act. 2005. [Email] Various personal emails to Gray, A. (August 2005)

Unpublished 2004 copy of the Nauruan Freedom of Information Act 2004, courtesy of Xavier Barker.

<sup>155</sup> ANON. Senate President Restates Commitment to Passage of FOI Bill. 2005. [WWW] http://mediarightsagenda.org/senprescomm.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>156</sup> SAMATH, F. Media group urges laws to permit access to information. 2005. [WWW] http://www.asiamedia.ucla.edu/article.asp?parentid=19345 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Memorandum on the Ugandan Access to Information Bill, 2004 (Bill No. 7). 2004. [WWW] http://www.article19.org/pdfs/analysis/uganda-bill-no.-7.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>158</sup> AQUILINA, K. Freedom of Information under Maltese Law. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.humanrightsinitiative.org/programs/ai/rti/international/laws\_papers/malta/foi\_malta.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>159</sup> DUVE, F., ed. The Media Situation in Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. 2002. [WWW] http://foi.missouri.edu/internationalfoi/rep\_media\_ca\_en.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

```
<sup>161</sup> Chapter 10:27. Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.kubatana.net/docs/legisl/aippaamd030611.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>162</sup> ANON. Freedom of expression and the 2005 parliamentary elections. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.kubatana.net/html/archive/hr/041210iba.asp?sector=HR (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>163</sup> Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Bill 2001. 2001. [WWW]
http://www.kubatana.net/docs/legisl/accesstoinfo011130.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>164</sup> Freedom of Information Act 2000. London: HMSO, 2000 Chapter 36.
<sup>165</sup> Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002. London: HMSO, 2000 asp 13.
<sup>166</sup> Further and Higher Education Act 1992, §65. London: HMSO, 1992 Chapter 13.
<sup>167</sup> ANON. University of Buckingham Institutional Audit. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.qaa.ac.uk/reviews/reports/institutional/buckingham/main.asp (Accessed on 15th October
2005)
<sup>168</sup> Private communication with various staff at Defence Academy, 20<sup>th</sup> September 2005.
<sup>169</sup> Freedom of Information and Privacy Bill. London: Parliamentary Stationery Office, 1977.
<sup>170</sup> SCRIVENER, K. The Freedom of Information Act and the Cooke recommendations on Information
for Quality and Standards: The challenge for universities. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.jisclegal.ac.uk/pdfs/foicooke.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   FARRINGTON, D.J. Higher and Further Education Update. Education Law Journal, 2001, 2,
pp230.

172 Chapter F-15.01. Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.gov.pe.ca/law/statutes/pdf/f-15 01.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>173</sup> Chapter F-15.01. Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act: General Regulations.
2004. [WWW] http://www.gov.pe.ca/law/regulations/pdf/F&15-01G.pdf (Accessed on 15th October
2005)
<sup>174</sup> WELLNER, M.R. Office of the Information and Privacy Commissioner. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.assembly.pe.ca/foipp/index.php?info=5 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   ANON. Frequently Asked Questions for Post-Secondary Institutions. 2004. [WWW]
http://www3.gov.ab.ca/foip/faq/post_secondary.cfm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>176</sup> Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. [RSBC 1996] Chapter 165. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.qp.gov.bc.ca/statreg/stat/F/96165_01.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
ANON. Freedom of Information in Quebec. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.acarm.org/documents/issue31/quebec.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   The Local Authority Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (Chapter L-27.1 of the
Statutes of Saskatchewan, 1990-91). 2003. [WWW]
http://www.qp.gov.sk.ca/documents/English/Statutes/Statutes/L27-1.pdf (Accessed on 15th October
2005)
<sup>179</sup> C.C.S.M. c.F175 The Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 2005. [WWW]
http://web2.gov.mb.ca/laws/statutes/ccsm/f175e.php (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
180 SNL2002 Chapter A-1.1. Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.hoa.gov.nl.ca/hoa/statutes/a01-1.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. S.N.W.T. 1994, c.20. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.canlii.org/nt/laws/sta/1994c.20/20050913/whole.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Regulations. R-206-96. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.canlii.org/nt/laws/regu/1996r.206/20050913/whole.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 1993 c.5. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.gov.ns.ca/legislature/legc/statutes/freedom.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   CAVOUKIAN, A. Information and Privacy Commissioner. 2004 Annual Report. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.ipc.on.ca/scripts/index_.asp?action=31&P_ID=16245&N_ID=1&PT_ID=11137&U_ID=0
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>185</sup> Access to Information and Protection of Privacy Act. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.gov.yk.ca/legislation/acts/atipp.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

186 Chapter R-10.3. Right to Information Act. 2002. [WWW] http://www.gnb.ca/0062/acts/acts/r-10-
3.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   ANON. A Discussion Paper on Amending the Right to Information Act. 1998. [WWW]
http://www.gnb.ca/legis/business/committees/previous/reports-e/righttoinfo/right-e.asp (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
```

<sup>160</sup> Law No. 25 (1990) on the press and publications. 2002. [WWW] http://www.al-

bab.com/yemen/gov/off4.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

http://caselaw.lp.findlaw.com/scripts/ts\_search.pl?title=5&sec=551 (Accessed on 15th October 2005) HANSEN, M. Search committee returns. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.journalstar.com/articles/2005/05/09/top\_story/10048537.txt (Accessed on 15th October

ANON. Table 13: New Freshman Applicants, Admits, and Registrants by Home Location, Fall 2002, 2002, [WWW]

http://osr2.berkeley.edu/Public/STAFFWEB/TC/main1/uas02tables1/uasf2002ver1.htm#table 13 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

193 ANON. USDLA Distance Learning Link Program. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.usdla.org/html/resources/dllp/he.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

OGUZ, O. Cameroon. 2005. [WWW] http://www.freemedia.at/wpfr/Africa/cameroon.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>195</sup> MONDAL, M.A.L. Ensuring people's right to information. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.asiamedia.ucla.edu/article.asp?parentid=22636 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Constitution of Belarus. 2004. [WWW] http://www.oefre.unibe.ch/law/icl/bo00000\_.html

(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

197 ANON. Article 19 Promotes Access to Information in Cambodia. 2005. [WWW] http://www.ifex.org/en/content/view/full/67508/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>198</sup> ANON. Silenced – Ethiopia. 2003. [WWW]

http://www.privacyinternational.org/article.shtml?cmd%5B347%5D=x-347-103763 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>199</sup> SELVOOD, I., and ERQUICIA, M. Anti-Corruption Assessments reveal secrecy as a continuing challenge in the Americas. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.transparency.org/pressreleases\_archive/2005/2005.09.29.secrecy.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>200</sup> ANON. Final Declaration adopted by the the National Conference on Media Law and Policy Reform, Liberia, 23 October 2004. 2004. [WWW]

http://www.ifj.org/default.asp?index=2755&Language=EN (Accessed on 15th October 2005) ANON. Privacy and Human Rights 2003: Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. 2003. [WWW]

http://www.privacyinternational.org/survey/phr2003/countries/luxembourg.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>202</sup> STOJANOVSKA, M. Macedonian Citizens Send Inquiries to State Institutions. 2005. [WWW] http://www.setimes.com/cocoon/setimes/xhtml/en\_GB/features/setimes/features/2005/10/04/feature-03 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>203</sup> Constitution of Madagascar. 2004. [WWW] <a href="http://www.oefre.unibe.ch/law/icl/ma00000">http://www.oefre.unibe.ch/law/icl/ma00000</a> .html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>204</sup> KUPPUSAMY, B. Freedom of information still gov't prerogative. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.cyberdyaryo.com/features/f2005 0510 02.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>205</sup> NARANJARGAL, H. Freedom of Information - Mongolian situation. 2005. [WWW] http://portal.unesco.org/ci/en/file\_download.php/9a398aa92a44a5775882a96caa4fd28emongolian\_situ ation.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

206 PELTO, M. TI PNG congratulates the Government on reactivating the Constitutional Law Reform

Commission. 2005 [WWW]

http://www.transparencypng.org.pg/press\_releases/reactivating constitutional reform comitee.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>207</sup> ANON. News freedom needs protection. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.etaiwannews.com/Editorial/2005/07/11/1121048133.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) BOURKE, T.V. Letter - Where's accountability, transparency and good governance? 2004.

[WWW] http://www.samoaobserver.ws/news/opinions/op0804/2708op003.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Determined via searching the University of New Brunswick website. <a href="http://www.unb.ca/">http://www.unb.ca/</a> (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> US Code Title 5, Section 552. Public information; agency rules, opinions, orders, records, and proceedings, 2003. [WWW] http://caselaw.lp.findlaw.com/scripts/ts\_search.pl?title=5&sec=552 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

190 US Code Title 5, Section 551. Definitions. 2003. [WWW]

```
exceptions. 2004. [WWW] http://www.legislature.state.al.us/CodeofAlabama/1975/36-12-40.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>211</sup> Alaska state code Chapter 40.25 .Inspection and copying of public records. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.legis.state.ak.us/cgi-bin/folioisa.dll/stattx03/query=*/doc/{@15441 (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>212</sup> Arizona state code 39-121.01. Definitions; maintenance of records; copies, printouts or
photographs of public records; examination by mail; index. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.azleg.state.az.us/ars/39/00121-01.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>213</sup> ST. JOHN, S. Officials masked sex allegations. 2005. [WWW].
\underline{http://www.trumanindex.com/media/paper607/news/2003/02/27/News/Officials.Masked.Sex.Allegational and the action of the actio
ns-380721.shtml (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>214</sup> Freedom of Information Act of 1967. 1999. [WWW]
http://www.foiarkansas.com/1010/1010foia.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005) ANON. Tapping Officials' Secrets: Arkansas: Open Records. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.rcfp.org/cgi-local/tapping/index.cgi?key=AR15 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

216 California government code, section 6250-6270. 2005. [WWW] http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-
bin/displaycode?section=gov&group=06001-07000&file=6250-6270 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>217</sup> ANON. RMP-8, Legal Requirements on Privacy of and Access to Information. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.ucop.edu/ucophome/policies/bfb/rmp8.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
Article 72: Public Records. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.urisa.org/Board Initiatives/PrivacyInitiative/access pdfs/COLORADO FOIA 2003.pdf
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>219</sup> Connecticut Freedom of Information Act. 2001. [WWW]
http://www.state.ct.us/foi/2001FOIA/2001FOIAStatutoryIndex.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) Delaware Code, Title 29, Part X, Chapter 100. Freedom of Information Act. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.delcode.state.de.us/title29/c100/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>221</sup> Civil Action 03-1063-JJF. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.ded.uscourts.gov/JJF/Opinions/Recent/May2005/03-1063.pdf (Accessed on 15th October
<sup>222</sup> 2005 Florida Statutes: Chapter 119, Public Records. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App mode=Display Statute&URL=Ch0119/ch0119.htm
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>223</sup> Georgia Code Chapter 50-18 Section 70. 2005. [WWW] http://www.legis.state.ga.us/cgi-
bin/gl codes detail.pl?code=50-18-70 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   <sup>4</sup> Georgia Code Chapter 50-14 Section 1. 2005. [WWW] http://www.legis.state.ga.us/cgi-
bin/gl codes detail.pl?code=50-14-1 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   <sup>5</sup> ANON. Court orders police at private Ga. university to comply with open-records law. 2004.
[WWW] http://www.splc.org/newsflash.asp?id=734&year=2004 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>226</sup> Uniform Information Practices Act (Modified), Chapter 92F, Hawaii Revised Statutes, 2004.
[WWW] http://www.state.hi.us/oip/uipa.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>227</sup> ANON. Opinion Letter Summaries. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.state.hi.us/oip/opinionsummarieslist.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
     ANON. Opinion Letter No. 90-27 summary. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.state.hi.us/oip/opinionsummaries/opinionsummary%2090-27.html (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>229</sup> Idaho Code, Title 9, Chapter 3, Section 338. Public Records – Right to Examine. 2005. [WWW]
http://www3.state.id.us/cgi-bin/newidst?sctid=090030038.K (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>230</sup> Idaho Code, Title 9, Chapter 3, Section 337. Definitions. 2005. [WWW]
http://www3.state.id.us/cgi-bin/newidst?sctid=090030037.K (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
     MADIGAN, L. A guide to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.illinoisattorneygeneral.gov/government/FOIA guide.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
     Indiana Code Title 5 Article 14 Chapter 3. Access to Public Records. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.state.in.us/legislative/ic/code/title5/ar14/ch3.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
```

<sup>209</sup> ANON. Journalists push for access to information. 2004. [WWW]

http://africa.rights.apc.org/index.shtml?apc=21866n21819e 1&x=28381 (Accessed on 15th October

Alabama state code Section 36-12-40: Rights of citizens to inspect and copy public writings;

```
<sup>234</sup> Chapter 45 – Public Records, Documents and Information; Chapter 2 – Records Open to Public.
2004. [WWW] http://www.kdhe.state.ks.us/remedial/download/kansas open record.pdf (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
<sup>235</sup> SHEADEL, A. M. Open Records and Open Meetings. 2003. [WWW] http://ag.ky.gov/civil/OR-
OM%20Outline.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>236</sup> FOTI, C.C. Public Records Laws. 2004. [WWW] <a href="http://www.ag.state.la.us/PublicRecords.aspx">http://www.ag.state.la.us/PublicRecords.aspx</a>
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>237</sup> Maine Statutes, Title 1, Chapter 13, §402. Definitions. 2005. [WWW]
http://janus.state.me.us/legis/statutes/1/title1sec402.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>238</sup> SCHWARTZ, J. Maryland Public Information Act Manual - Appendix C-2. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.oag.state.md.us/Opengov/piaappCrev.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   GALVIN, W.F. A Guide to the Massachusetts Public Records Law. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.sec.state.ma.us/pre/prepdf/pubreclaw.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

240 COX, M. Summary of Michigan's FOIA. 2005. [WWW] http://www.michigan.gov/ag/0,1607,7-164-
<u>17337_18160-51242--,00.html</u> (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>241</sup> Michigan Statutes 2004 Chapter 13. Government data practices. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.revisor.leg.state.mn.us/stats/13/ (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   ANON. Mississippi Centre for Freedom of Information Public Records Handbook. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.mcfoi.org/handbook/public.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>243</sup> Chapter 610, Revised Statutes of Missouri, 2004. [WWW]
http://www.ago.state.mo.us/sunshinelaw/chapter610.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>244</sup> ANON. Sunshine Law Attorney General opinions. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.ago.state.mo.us/sunshinelaw/opinions.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   Montana Code Annotated, §2-6-101. Definitions. 2001. [WWW]
http://data.opi.state.mt.us/bills/mca/2/6/2-6-101.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>246</sup> Montana Constitution, Article II, Section 9. Definitions. 2001. [WWW]
http://data.opi.state.mt.us/bills/mca/const/II/9.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>247</sup> BRUNING, J. Nebraska Public Records Statutes. 2002. [WWW]
http://www.ago.state.ne.us/content/content/records_statutes.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 239. 2001. [WWW] http://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-
239.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>249</sup> Nevada Revised Statutes, Chapter 396. 2001. [WWW] http://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-
396.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
HEED, P.W. Memorandum on New Hampshire's Right-to-Know Law, RSA Chapter 91-A. 2003.
[WWW] http://doj.nh.gov/publications/pdf/right to know.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>251</sup> ANON. Board of Trustees & Chancellor's Office. 2005. [WWW]
http://usnh.unh.edu/trustees_chancellors/index.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>252</sup> ANON. A Citizen's Guide to the Open Public Records Act. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.state.nj.us/grc/citizens.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
 <sup>53</sup> P.L. 2001, c. 404; Open Public Records Act. 2005, [WWW] http://www.state.ni.us/grc/act.html
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

254MADRID, P.A. The Inspection of Public Records Act: A Compliance Guide for New Mexico Public
Officials and Citizens. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.ago.state.nm.us/divs/civil/IPRAFourthEdition2003.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

Freedom of Information Law. 2005. [WWW] http://www.dos.state.ny.us/coog/foil2.htm (Accessed)
on 15th October 2005)
<sup>256</sup> ANON. About UsNY and the State Education Department. 2005. [WWW]
http://usny.nysed.gov/aboutusny.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
ANON. Cornell: Open and Shut Case. 2005. [WWW] http://www.mindfully.org/GE/2005/Cornell-
GMO-Research18feb05.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>258</sup> North Carolina Public Records Law. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.ncpress.com/publicrecordslaw.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
  Annotated Open Records and Meetings Laws, North Dakota Century Code §§ 44-04-17.1 through
44-04-21.3. 2003. [WWW] http://www.ag.state.nd.us/OpenRecords/statute.pdf (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
```

<sup>233</sup> Iowa Code 1999: Section 22.1: Definitions. 1999. [WWW]

http://www.legis.state.ia.us/IACODE/1999/22/1.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

```
http://www.ag.state.nd.us/Opinions/Opinions.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>261</sup> STENEHJEM, W. Open Records and Meetings Opinion 2005-O-05, 2005. [WWW]
http://www.ag.state.nd.us/Opinions/2005/OR/2005-O-05.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005) PETRO, J. Ohio Sunshine Laws Update. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.ag.state.oh.us/online publications/2005 sunshine law book.pdf (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>263</sup> Open Records Act. Title 51, Oklahoma Statutes §§ 24A.1-24A.24. 2001. [WWW]
http://www.foioklahoma.org/OpenRecords.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>264</sup> Oregon Public Records Law. 2004. [WWW] http://www.open-oregon.com/New Pages/192-
410.shtml (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>265</sup> MYERS, H. Public Records Orders. 2005. [WWW] <a href="http://www.doj.state.or.us/pros/pros.htm">http://www.doj.state.or.us/pros/pros.htm</a>
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

266 Right to Know Law. 2004. [WWW] http://www.pa-
newspaper.org/legal/Legal%20Resources/Open%20Records/right_to_know.htm (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>267</sup> Rhode Island Statutes. Chapter 38-2. Access to Public Records. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.rilin.state.ri.us/Statutes/TITLE38/38-2/INDEX.HTM (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>268</sup> South Carolina Code of Laws. Title 30. Chapter 4. Freedom of Information Act. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.scstatehouse.net/code/t30c004.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>269</sup> South Dakota statutes, section 1-27-1. Records open to inspection--Sale of lists. 2004. [WWW]
http://legis.state.sd.us/statutes/DisplayStatute.aspx?Type=Statute&Statute=1-27-1 (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
<sup>270</sup> ANON. Government Openness Task Force – Public Records Laws. 2003. [WWW]
http://www.state.sd.us/attorney/office/openness/doc.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
   South Dakota statutes, section 13-49-31. "Records" defined for purposes of public access, 2004.
[WWW] http://legis.state.sd.us/statutes/DisplayStatute.aspx?Statute=13-49-31&Type=Statute
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)

272 ANON. Tennessee Coalition for Open Government – The Law. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.tcog.info/law/law.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>273</sup> Government Code. Chapter 552: Public Information. 2004. [WWW]
http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/statutes/docs/GV/content/pdf/gv.005.00.000552.00.pdf (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
<sup>274</sup> BURNS, M.E. et. al. Handbook for the Utah Government Records Access and Management Act.
2005. [WWW] http://attorneygeneral.utah.gov/GRAMA/GRAMAHandbook&Appendix2005.pdf
(Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>275</sup> ANON. State Records Committee Appeal Decision Summaries, 1992-1994. 2004. [WWW]
http://archives.utah.gov/appeals/indxtabl.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
<sup>276</sup> JOHNSON, J.O. State Records Committee Appeal 99-03. 1999. [WWW]
http://archives.utah.gov/appeals/99-03.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
 <sup>77</sup> Vermont Statutes, Title 1, Chapter 5, § 316 et. seg. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.leg.state.vt.us/statutes/fullchapter.cfm?Title=01&Chapter=005 (Accessed on 15th October
<sup>278</sup> Caledonian-Record Publishing Co., Inc. v. Vermont State Colleges (2002-412); 175 Vt. 438; 833
A.2d 1273, 2002. [WWW] http://dol.state.vt.us/gopher_root3/supct/175/2002-412.op (Accessed on
15th October 2005)
<sup>279</sup> CARTER, C. Vermont Public Records and the Right to Know: What is a Public Record? 2004.
[WWW] http://vermont-archives.org/records/right-to-know/definition.html (Accessed on 15th October
<sup>280</sup> Virginia Freedom of Information Act 2005. 2005. [WWW]
http://www.opengovva.org/foia acts/foiacurrent.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)
EVERETT, M.J.K. Freedom of Information Advisory Council staff advisory opinion AO-23-01.
2001. [WWW] http://dls.state.va.us/groups/foiacouncil/ops/01/ao 23.htm (Accessed on 15th October
<sup>282</sup> EVERETT, M.J.K. Freedom of Information Advisory Council staff advisory opinion AO-18-03.
2003. [WWW] http://dls.state.va.us/groups/foiacouncil/ops/03/ao 18 03.htm (Accessed on 15th
October 2005)
```

<sup>260</sup> STENEHJEM, W. et. al. Attorney General Opinions. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.leg.wa.gov/RCW/index.cfm?section=42.17.315&fuseaction=section (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>285</sup> KILLEEN, M., et. al. Public Records Deskbook, Chapter 3. 1998. [WWW] http://www.atg.wa.gov/records/chapter3.shtml (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>286</sup> West Virginia Code. Chapter 29B – Freedom of Information. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.legis.state.wv.us/WVCODE/29B/masterfrm2Frm.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>287</sup> Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 19: General Duties of Public Officials. 2004. [WWW] http://www.legis.state.wi.us/statutes/Stat0019.pdf (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

ANON. Wisconsin FOIA caselaw. 2005. [WWW] http://www.wisfoic.org/caselaw.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>289</sup> Wyoming Statutes. Title 16, Chapter 4, Article 2. Public Records. 2005. [WWW] http://legisweb.state.wy.us/statutes/title16/c04a02.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>290</sup> CRANK, P.J. et. al., *Wyoming Attorney General Formal Opinions*. 2005. [WWW]

http://attorneygeneral.state.wy.us/98forma2.htm (Accessed on 15th October 2005) FANN, A. *Tribal Colleges: An Overview. ERIC Digest.* 2004. [WWW]

http://www.ericdigests.org/2003-2/tribal.html (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>292</sup> District of Columbia Official Code, 2001 Edition, § 2-532. 2005. [WWW]

http://dccode.westgroup.com/Find/Default.wl?DocName=DCCODES2-532&FindType=W&DB=DC-

TOC-WEB%3BSTADCTOC&RS=WLW2%2E07&VR=2%2E0 (Accessed on 15th October 2005) <sup>293</sup> Virgin Islands Code, Title 3, Chapter 33. 2005. [WWW]

 $\underline{http://\bar{1}98.187.128.12/virginislands/lpext.dll/Infobase/8d8/188c/1892?f=templates\&fn=document-do$ frame.htm&2.0#JD\_sec3881 (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>294</sup> Sunshine Reform Act of 1999. 2005. [WWW]

http://www.guamcourts.org/CompilerofLaws/GCA/05gca/5gc010.PDF (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

THEIMER, S. DeLay's help sought in blocking labor rules. 2005. [WWW] http://www.postgazette.com/pg/05118/495564.stm (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Revised Code of Washington 42.17.260 - Documents and indexes to be made public. 2005. [WWW] http://www.leg.wa.gov/RCW/index.cfm?section=42.17.260&fuseaction=section (Accessed on 15th October 2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> Revised Code of Washington 42.17.315 - Certain records obtained by colleges, universities, libraries, or archives exempt. 2005. [WWW]